

# Phylogenetic Diversity of Arctic Vertebrate Herbivores

Ina Åsnes Skjelbred

Master of ScienceSubmission date:June 2017Supervisor:James Speed, IBICo-supervisor:Michael David Martin, IBI

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Department of Biology

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This master thesis was written at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) University Museum.

First of all, I would like to express my full gratitude to my excellent team of supervisors, James David M. Speed and Michael David Martin. Thank you both for the motivating discussions, support throughout the process, and always being available to answer all my questions. Specifically, I would like to make a special thank you to Michael for gathering the sequence data and performing the phylogenetic analyses used in this study, and Andrew H. Thornhill assisting him in this process. And a special thanks to James for gathering the distribution data used in this study, all help with R, and giving me the possibility to present my project at both the Herbivory Network Conference and the Norwegian Ecological Society Conference along the way. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to work with such an interesting project - it has truly been a wonderful experience!

In the end, I would like to thank all my friends and fellow LUR-students in Trondheim who has supported me through the time working with this project. I would especially like to thank Jonas for always standing by my side supporting and motivating me, and to Kristian for the good discussions and input along the way.

Ina Åsnes Skjelbred June 2017, Trondheim

### ABSTRACT

Understanding spatial diversity patterns, and factors shaping these patterns, is crucial for conservation planning, and is particularly important in areas undergoing severe climatic change. Traditionally, spatial diversity patterns have been investigated solely at the species-level, using measurement of *species richness*. However, using a phylogenetic approach to measure biodiversity can increase our understanding and give insight to both ecological and evolutionary processes shaping the diversity patterns we see today. This study has investigated patterns of *phylogenetic diversity* of arctic vertebrate herbivores relative to patterns of species richness, and further explored possible explanatory variables driving the ratio between these patterns.

The spatial diversity analyses were performed using *Biodiverse*, linking species distribution data and molecular data (a phylogeny) in order to calculate the phylogenetic diversity of vertebrate herbivores across the entire Arctic biome. Environmental data were collected from various data sources, based on evaluation of which parameters that may be important drivers shaping the patterns.

The results showed a strong correlation between the patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness in arctic vertebrate herbivores. In addition, phylogenetic diversity was revealed to be higher than species richness across the Arctic, suggesting arctic areas to represent a span across the phylogenetic tree of species investigated, even in species-poor areas. Further, several arctic islands were identified as areas containing an overrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness compared to the Arctic mainland. Seven out of nine environmental variables investigated were found to be relative important driving patterns of both phylogenetic diversity and species richness. Of these, plant productivity, glaciation history, temperature, precipitation, habitat heterogeneity, and human impact were found to have a negative effect of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness. On the other hand, topographic heterogeneity and distance to coast were found to have a positive effect. This study illustrates that a phylogenetic approach enhances our knowledge about spatial diversity patterns, and may possibly reveal areas of special interest regarding future conservation priorities.

Key words: Phylogenetic diversity - Species richness - Vertebrate herbivores - Explanatory variables - The Arctic biome

## **ABSTRACT IN NORWEGIAN**

Å kunne forstå romlege diversitetsmønstre og faktorar som driv desse er naudsynt for bevaringsplanlegging, og er framfor alt viktig i område utsett for store klimaendringar. Tradisjonelt har desse mønstra blitt studert ved å nytte målingar av artsdiversitet (*species richness*). Ved å derimot bruke ei fylogenetisk tilnærming i slike målingar, kan dette gi innblikk i både økologiske og evolusjonære prosessar som formar diversitetsmønstra vi ser i dag. Denne studien har undersøkt mønstre av fylogenetisk diversitet i arktiske planteetande virveldyr, samanlikna desse med mønster av artsdiversitet, og vidare utforska potensielle faktorar som driv forholdet mellom desse.

Analyseprogrammet *Biodiverse* blei nytta for kalkuleringane, kor artsdistribusjonsdata vart linka saman med molekylær data (fylogeni), for å kalkulere fylogenetisk diversitet av planteetande virveldyr på tvers av Arktis. Vidare vart miljødata henta frå ulike kjelder, basert på evalueringar av kva faktorar som kunne forventast å forme romlege diversitetsmønster.

Resultata synte sterk korrelasjon mellom mønster av fylogenetisk diversitet og arstdiversitet. I tillegg vart fylogenetisk diversitet avdekka til å vere høgare enn artsdiversitet i alle tilfelle på tvers av Arktis, noko som indikerer at artar tilstades representerar eit spenn på tvers av det fylogenetiske treet, også i meir artsfattige område. Vidare blei fleire arktiske øyer identifiserte til å halde høg overrepresentasjon av fylogenetisk diversitet relativt til artsdiversitet, samanlikna med fastlandet. Sju ut av dei ni miljøfaktorar som vart testa, synte å vere viktige drivarar av diversitetsmønstre presentert i denne studien. Av desse hadde planteproduktivitet, isbrehistorie, temperatur, nedbør, habitat-heterogenitet og menneskeleg innflytelse alle ein negativ effekt på mønstret av fylogenetisk diversitet relativt til artsdiversitet. På andre sida, synte topografisk-heterogenitet og avstand til kyst seg å ha ein positiv effekt. Denne studien illustrerer at ved å nytte ei fylogenetisk tilnærming i målingar av diversitet, aukar vår kunnskap om romlege diversitetsmønstre, og kan om mogleg avsløre område av spesiell interesse angåande framtidige bevaringsspørsmål.

Stikkord: Fylogenetisk diversitet - Artsdiversitet - Planteetande virveldyr - Forklarande faktorar - Arktis

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	i
ABSTRACT	iii
ABSTRACT IN NORWEGIAN	V
INTRODUCTION	1
MATERIALS AND METHODS	7
Assembly of geographic data of the species	7
Assembly of molecular data and phylogenetic analyses	
Biodiversity analyses	9
Assembly of environmental data (explanatory variables)	
Data analyses (in R)	11
RESULTS	15
Phylogenetic analysis	15
Diversity patterns of arctic vertebrate herbivores	15
Diversity drivers of arctic vertebrate herbivores	
DISCUSSION	23
Relationship between patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness	
Explanatory variables driving diversity patterns	
Concluding remarks	
REFERENCES	31
APPENDIX	35
Appendix 1	
Appendix 2	

## INTRODUCTION

In the field of Conservation Biology, the essential goal is to map and protect as much of the estimated biodiversity as possible, in order to protect possible future values (Loreau et al., 2001; Faith & Baker, 2006). Particularly important is conserving diversity in areas undergoing change, since broad variation and variability of life forms could function as a buffer (Faith & Baker, 2006) against fluctuations in the environment, and hence retain stability of ecosystem processes (Loreau et al., 2001). Therefore, spatial analysis of biodiversity is essential (Laffan, Lubarsky, & Rosauer, 2010) on the simple basis that we need to know where biodiversity is in order to protect it. Moreover, to predict possible future consequences of climate change (González-Orozco et al., 2016) it is crucial to understand spatial patterns of biodiversity (Mishler et al., 2014) and also the biotic and abiotic drivers shaping these patterns (Barrio et al., 2016).

Traditionally, spatial diversity patterns have been conducted examining species ranges across regions (Mishler et al., 2014), e.g. *species richness*. While thousands of species have been targeted and investigated individually, less is known about how spatial patterns across whole clades of species might be impacted due to climate change (González-Orozco et al., 2016; Thuiller et al., 2011). Incorporating the full tree of life in spatial diversity analysis will provide a deeper understanding of biodiversity than species richness patterns alone, and hence give more analytical power and ecological inference (Mishler et al., 2014). Such a phylogenetic approach can provide unique insights and help documenting processes that generates variation (Faith, 2008), such processes as speciation and extinction, ecosystem function and assembly rules (Mazel et al., 2015). Furthermore, a phylogenetic approach in biodiversity analyses will provide insight to how evolutionary processes may have shaped the patterns of species richness we see today (Fritz & Rahbek, 2012), as well as contribute to our understanding of what mechanisms drive patterns of species co-occurrences (Cadotte et al., 2010).

One of the pioneers of the *phylogenetic diversity* concept was Daniel Faith (1992), who described it as 'the minimum total length of all branches required to span a given set of taxa on the phylogenetic tree' (Faith, 1992; for a discussion see Faith & Baker, 2006; Cadotte et al., 2010). When limited resources call for priority decisions, the use of phylogenetic

diversity measurements in species conservation can be more effective than traditional species richness measurements alone (Faith, 1992; Faith & Baker, 2006; Mishler et al. 2014). One of the reasons is the phylogenetic diversity measurements' use of molecular data and phylogenetic analysis programs that avoid the sensitivity of conservation planning to species definitions (Isaac et al. 2004; Faith & Williams, 2006; Faith & Baker, 2006). Additionally, by weighting the cladistic hierarchy representativeness instead of only weighting the count of taxonomic units (e.g. species), phylogenetic diversity measurements aim to conserve as much information about hierarchical variation as possible (Faith, 1992). In this way, the conservation strategy that preserves the largest amount of phylogenetic diversity as the available resources permit can be considered most successful (Faith & Baker, 2006). During recent years, spatial analysis on a wide range of biodiversity indices have been made possible due to increased available data (Cadotte et al. 2010; Laffan et al. 2010; Ficetola et al., 2017). As a consequence of increased georeferenced distribution data and phylogenetic trees (Holt et al., 2013), the use of phylogenetic diversity measurements in biodiversity investigations has also increased (e.g. Faith et al., 2004; Cadotte et al., 2010; Cadotte et al., 2012; Fritz & Rahbek, 2012; Mishler et al., 2014; see Vamosi et al., 2009). This increase has also led to several proposals of new ways to calculate phylogenetic diversity (e.g. Helmus et al., 2007; Cadotte et al., 2010; Fritz & Rahbek, 2012). While each different way of calculating phylogenetic diversity has advantages, it is important to evaluate the mechanisms behind the measurement used in relation to the research question (Flynn et al., 2011).

In general, phylogenetic diversity is expected to correlate with species richness (Faith, 2008; e.g. Morlon et al., 2011; Fritz & Rahbek, 2012; González-Orozco et al., 2016) across areas, as an increase of species represented in an area hence increases the number of phylogenetic branches in the same area (Vamosi et al., 2009). However, an area where phylogenetic diversity is either over- or underrepresented compared to its associated species richness, is of special interest since this would indicate a detectable signal in existing species richness pattern left by evolutionary processes (Fritz & Rahbek, 2012). This would then reveal the significance of dispersal barriers, colonization and processes of diversification (Fritz & Rahbek, 2012).

The Arctic biome holds some of the most species-poor and least productive ecosystems worldwide (Meltofte, 2013; Turetsky et al., 2017), due to environmental conditions such as low temperatures, nitrogen limitation and short growing seasons (Schmidt et al., 2017). In

addition, recent glaciation has also limited species diversification in northern ecosystems (Turetsky et al., 2017). Therefore, the Arctic has often been suggested as a model for investigating and understanding interactions between biotic and abiotic factors in ecosystems (Barrio et al., 2016). However, with the availability increase of phylogenetic and global distribution datasets, it has been revealed that arctic diversity patterns are far more complex than predicted (Meltofte, 2013). Herbivores play a central role in terrestrial ecosystems by directly and indirectly affecting the structure and dynamics in the systems (Barrio et al., 2016; Foster, Barton, & Lindenmayer, 2014; Ritchie & Olff, 1999; Van der Wal, Bardgett, Harrison, & Stien, 2004), and they have an even greater impact in the Arctic in comparison to lower latitudes (Mulder, 1999). Given the rapid climate change occurring in the Arctic (Meltofte, 2013), understanding how patterns of herbivore diversity fluctuates across the biome can help predict future interactions between plants and herbivores in tundra ecosystems (Barrio et al., 2016).

Patterns of biodiversity are strongly determined by environmental limitations, as well as evolutionary processes and species dispersal (Barrio et al., 2016). Thus, performing spatial diversity analyses on a broad scale can give insight to important drivers, of both biotic and abiotic character, shaping these diversity patterns (Sandom et al., 2013). In terrestrial ecosystems, plant productivity plays an important role in driving large scale patterns of diversity (Field et al., 2009; Meltofte, 2013), as higher net productivity might bear more individuals and hence support species coexistence (Sandom et al., 2013). Strong correlations between primary productivity and species richness has also been revealed in arctic herbivores (Barrio et al., 2016). Climate has a central role by directly or indirectly (Hawkins et al., 2003) determining large spatial patterns of species richness in terrestrial habitats (Field et al., 2009). Moreover, temperature has been demonstrated to drive biogeographical boundaries in terrestrial ecosystems (Ficetola et al., 2017). Other drivers of large spatial diversity patterns can be linked to environmental heterogeneity (Meltofte, 2013; Yang et al., 2015; Ficetola et al., 2017), as resource variety in habitats might provide more niches for species coexistence (Sandom et al., 2013) and also as topographic heterogeneity has shown to have a local effect on diversity in arctic terrestrial vertebrates (Meltofte, 2013).

Other potential drivers of broad-scale diversity patterns in the Arctic biome can be related to historical (Meltofte, 2013; Ficetola et al., 2017) and geographical impacts (Field et al., 2009). Arctic terrestrial ecosystems are, in geological contexts, relatively young compared to other

ecosystems on Earth (Meltofte, 2013) due to glaciation events during the Pleistocene. Current distribution patterns have been linked to ice-free refugia that existed under the last glacial maximum (Barrio et al., 2016), where terrestrial species were able to diverge in isolation and hence fostering arctic diversification during periods of glaciation (Meltofte, 2013). Furthermore, diversity patterns might also be associated with distance of an area to the coastline, as the Arctic harbours hold more diverse communities (Meltofte, 2013). Glacial history has also generated special characteristics associated with existing northern ecosystems soil and topography composition (Turetsky et al., 2017). One of the main drivers of richness patterns in vascular plant species is soil pH (Gough et al., 2000), and therefore it might also drive patterns of herbivores. In recent evolutionary time, drivers of biodiversity might be associated with human activity, as human-affected habitats generally contain less genetic diversity than wild areas (Miraldo et al., 2016). In arctic terrestrial systems, an increasing footprint of human activity has been observed (Meltofte, 2013), which might in turn have an impact on the genetic diversity patterns of the Arctic biome.

Recently, patterns of species richness in arctic vertebrate herbivores were outlined and drivers of these richness patterns were investigated (see Barrio et al., 2016). However, phylogenetic diversity patterns of this main trophic group and the mechanisms driving these patterns remain unknown in the Arctic biome. In this study, I investigate the spatial patterns of phylogenetic diversity of vertebrate herbivores in the Arctic biome. Additionally, I aim to identify areas of unusually high or low representation of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness. Furthermore, I seek to identify explanatory variables driving these spatial diversity patterns in vertebrate herbivores across the Arctic, and I am specifically interested in identifying variables increasing the ratio between patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness in the studied group of species.

Based on previous studies (e.g. Fritz & Rahbek, 2012; González-Orozco et al., 2016) and the assumption that areas containing more species will also represent more phylogenetic branches (Vamosi et al., 2009), I expect to find a general correlation between patterns of phylogenetic diversity and patterns of species richness of vertebrate herbivores across the Arctic biome. Furthermore, due to the Arctic region generally being species-poor (Meltofte, 2013) and the studied group of herbivores including species of two distinct classes (i.e. including avian and mammalian species), I expect to find variation across areas in ratio between phylogenetic diversity and species richness. Considering potential explanatory

variables, I expect to find factors driving species richness patterns also influencing patterns of phylogenetic diversity, based on the assumption of these indices being correlated. Due to few studies done investigating factors driving phylogenetic diversity patterns in terrestrial species, variables examined in this study are mainly based on previously being linked to patterns of species richness. Also, many of the examined variables has particularly been investigated driving species richness in the same group of species investigated in this study (see Barrio et al., 2016). Based on this, I expect plant productivity, climatic factors of temperature, soil pH, and environment heterogeneity (i.e. habitat heterogeneity and topographic heterogeneity) to increase phylogenetic diversity of arctic vertebrate herbivores. On the other hand, I expect increased distance to coastline and areas being affected by humans to hold less phylogenetic diversity. With that said, I am expecting glaciation history to play a greater role in driving phylogenetic diversity than of species richness, since more time since last glaciation period provides more time for speciation events. This will naturally also have an impact on species richness, but I expect 'younger' areas to hold more closely related species and 'older' areas to represent a broader span across the phylogenetic tree. Finally, I seek to identify which of these variables have the largest impact on the ratio between patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness in arctic vertebrate herbivores.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Assembly of geographic data of the species

The species distribution maps in this study were collected and generated using the same data sources and methods as Barrio et al. (2016). Distribution maps of 75 arctic vertebrate herbivores were constructed based on occurrences of herbivorous species in the Arctic biome (Meltofte, 2013). Only species feeding mainly on plant material were included, resulting in 21 avian and 54 mammalian species (see Table A1, Appendix 1). The avian distribution maps were constructed using data from Birdlife International & NatureServe (2013) including both species with breeding and non-breeding ranges in the Arctic. Vagrant species or species with migratory pathways in the Arctic biome were excluded from the analyses (Birdlife International & NatureServe, 2013). Data from The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN, 2013) were used to construct distribution maps of arctic mammals, including both resident and migratory species.

The original distribution maps collected from Birdlife International & NatureServe (2013) and IUCN (2013) were polygon layers. These layers were rasterized in to grid cells, each representing 100x100 km. 1581 grid cells of species distribution data remained after excluding cells consisting of >50% ice covered land or water. Within the grid cells, each species was either marked as absent or present based on their distribution ranges from the representative data sources.

The full dataset made for the main analyses consisted of all species in Table A1 (see Appendix 1), also the semi-domesticated species *Ovis aries* and the semi-domesticated ranges of *Rangifer tarandus* (including 75 species). To investigate possible impacts the semi-domesticated species would have on the diversity patterns, an additional dataset including only wild ranges of all herbivorous species was made (including 74 species). In addition, one subset of birds and one subset of mammals were made based on the assumption that different dispersal possibilities will have an impact on the overall diversity patterns. This left a total of four distribution datasets for the analyses;

- (1) All herbivores (including both wild and semi-domesticated species)
- (2) Avian herbivores only

(3) Mammalian herbivores only (including both wild and semi-domesticated species)

(4) All wild herbivores

#### Assembly of molecular data and phylogenetic analyses

The molecular data were collected in GenBank, using custom python scripts for nucleotide sequences of 18 common genetic loci of the 75 arctic vertebrate herbivores investigated. Four mitochondrial markers were identified with broad coverage across the species: cytochrome B (cytB), cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 (COI), 12S ribosomal RNA (12S), and NADH dehydrogenase subunit 4 (ND4). When available, multiple sequences for each species were compared so that a single representative sequence could be chosen for further analysis. Otherwise the longest available sequence was chosen. We were able to obtain representative sequence data for at least one marker in 71 species (see Table A2, Appendix 1). The remaining four species were excluded due to insufficient publicly available sequences data, these were: *Dicrostonyx nelsoni*, *Dicrostonyx unalascensis*, *Dicrostonyx vinogradovi*, and *Lemmus portenkoi*.

Sequences for each marker were aligned automatically using MAFFT version 7.305b (Katoh & Standley, 2013) and then manually adjusted. Large autapomorphic gaps were excised from the sequence alignments. This resulted in the final multiple sequence alignments with the following lengths: cytB, 1153 bp; COI, 657 bp; 12S, 1092 bp; ND4, 2365 bp. These were concatenated to create a final alignment of length 5267 bp.

Using PartitionFinder (Lanfear et al., 2012), hierarchical likelihood ratio tests under the Bayesian information criterion were used to determine the optimal data-partitioning scheme and substitution models. The optimal partitioning scheme contained three data subsets: COI, 12S, and combined ND4+cytB. The general time reversible nucleotide substitution model with invariant sites and Gamma-distributed among-site rate variation (GTR+I+ $\Gamma$ ) was determined to be optimal for all three data subsets.

Independent Bayesian phylogenetic analyses were conducted on the multiple sequence alignment of each marker individually, as well as on the partitioned, concatenated dataset using MrBayes version 3.1.2 (Huelsenbeck & Ronquist, 2001; Ronquist & Huelsenbeck,

2003) in four chains with 4 million MCMC generations (discarding the initial 25% as burnin), and sampling the cold chain every 1000 generations. Statistical stationarity was confirmed at the completion of the run by examining that the mean standard deviation of split frequencies was less than 1%. The reconstructed topological relationships were confirmed to be in good agreement with previously published phylogenetic analyses using the Tree of Life Web Project (Maddison & Schulz, 2007) and the TimeTree knowledge-base (Hedges et al., 2006), with a few exceptions discussed below.

We concluded that the GenBank COI sequence for *Anser canagica* (subgeneric group Chen) must have been misidentified, confirmed by performing a phylogenetic analysis with only COI. This analysis placed *Anser canagica* not only outside the genus *Anser*, but also basal to all included taxa from the superorder Neoaves. Hence, this COI sequence was removed from the multiple sequence alignment prior to the final analysis of the 5267-bp partitioned, concatenated dataset. The position of *Castor canadensis* outside the Order Rodentia disagrees with widely accepted knowledge about its evolutionary relationships to other mammals. This issue with the phylogenetic topology could not be resolved.

#### **Biodiversity analyses**

Standard indices of *species richness* and *phylogenetic diversity* were calculated in all 1581 grid cells (with equal area of 100x100km) using Biodiverse version 0.19 (Laffan et al., 2010). Species richness (Biodiverse Index 111, named: "Richness all") was calculated by counting the number of species in cells, without the use of the phylogenetic tree. Phylogenetic diversity (Biodiverse Indices 274-277, named: "Phylogenetic Diversity") was calculated by summing the branch lengths of the phylogenetic tree representing the species present in each cell. The phylogenetic diversity calculations in Biodiverse (Laffan et al., 2010) is calculated based on Faith's (1992) phylogenetic diversity concept; finding the minimum total length of all phylogenetic branches represented in the investigated area (here in each grid cell), including the root of the tree. Both diversity indices in the result are presented as a proportion of total (i.e. of 'total species' in species richness, and of 'total branch lengths' in phylogenetic diversity) and are therefore on a scale from 0 to 1. The results were exported into R (R Core Team, 2016) for further statistical analyses and visualization (see description of data analyses below).

The diversity calculations were computed by importing both the four distribution data sets (see Table A1, Appendix 1) and the phylogenetic tree (Figure A1, Appendix 1) into Biodiverse (Laffan et al., 2010). Distribution data were then trimmed to match tree nodes, resulting in removing distribution data of four species (*Dicrostonyx nelsoni*, *Dicrostonyx unalascensis*, *Dicrostonyx vinogradovi*, and *Lemmus portenkoi*). In addition, *Microtus abbreviatus* was also removed by trimming the phylogenetic tree, as its distribution range was too narrow to appear in the distribution data when using 100x100 km grid cells across the Arctic. Thus, a total of 70 species remained for the analyses.

#### Assembly of environmental data (explanatory variables)

In total, 27 possible explanatory variables (this including 19 different bioclimatic variables) were considered in this study, in order to explain the large spatial phylogenetic diversity patterns of vertebrate herbivores in the Arctic biome. The data of all explanatory variables were resampled to grid cells of 100x100 km, in order to match the species distribution data in the response variables. Related to predictions about factors driving diversity patterns (see Introduction), the following explanatory variables were examined:

#### • Plant productivity (NDVI)

Data representing 'Plant productivity' was collected using the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI), which displays maximum greenness, from the data source TAGA (Alaska Geobotany Center 2012b). The original layer had a resolution of 1x1km.

#### • Bioclimatic variables (temperature and precipitation)

Data from 19 different bioclimatic variables were collected from WorldClim (Fick & Hijmans, 2017). The original layers contained of 1x1 km grid cells. A principle components analysis (PCA) was performed to reduce dimensionality of the 19 variables. All variables were standardized before the PCA was run. Top three components axes were selected; cumulatively these axes explained 90% of the total variation. The bioclimatic variable with the strongest correlation with each axis was then selected as the best representative variable for each component. 'Annual Precipitation' (=bio12) was selected from the first component; 'Max temperature of

warmest month' (=bio5) was selected for the second component and 'Annual mean temperature' (=bio1) for the third component.

- Environmental heterogeneity
  - Raw data representing 'Topographic Heterogeneity' was collected from Alaska Geobotany Center (2010), and represent the range of elevation within a given cell. The original layer had a resolution of 1x1km.
  - Raw data demonstrating 'Habitat heterogeneity' was collected from the European Space Agency's GlobCover Project (2009), and represents the number of different habitats present in each cell.
- History and geography:
  - Raw data of 'Ice history' (= kya\_since\_ice) represents time since last ice-cover within each cell investigated. Data measured in intervals of 1 Kyr, from 0 to 21 Kyr when 0 Kyr represent cells where there is ice today. Cells not within this range were all put to be 150 Kyr in order to not lose any cells. The raw data was collected from the IGBP PAGES/World Data Center for Paleoclimatology (1993).
  - Raw data of 'Distance to coastline' was collected using The Alaskan Geobotany Center (2012a). The original data measured in meters.

• Soil pH

Raw data of 'Soil pH' was collected from IGBP-DIS (1998). Data collected by measuring with a depth of 5 cm.

### • Human population densities

Raw data representing human population density (hereby expressed as 'Population density') was collected form the NASA Socioeconomic Data and Application Center (2004), with gridded estimates of 30 arc-seconds output resolution for the year 2000.

### Data analyses (in R)

All grid cells existing of ice-on-land were removed from the analyses, reducing 1581 to 1393 grid cells. In addition, due to missing values in the variables of 'Soil pH' and 'Topographic heterogeneity', further 48 cells were excluded, leaving 1345 grid cells for the final diversity analyses.

Relationships between all explanatory variables (including the three selected Bioclimatic variables) were visually inspected using pairwise linear correlations, to detect any collinearity or multilinearity between them. All correlations with |r| > 0.40, were further inspected and evaluated (Figure A2, Appendix 1). 'Annual mean temperature' was strongly correlated with 'Annual precipitation' (r=0.75) and showed some correlation with 'Habitat heterogeneity' (r=0.40) and 'Soil pH' (r=-0.42). 'Max temperature of warmest month' was strongly correlated with 'Plant productivity' (r=0.74) and 'Distance to coast' (r=0.71), and was moderately correlated with 'Soil pH' (r=-0.40). 'Elevation' was found to be strongly correlated with 'Topographic Heterogeneity' (r=0.70). In addition, 'Plant productivity' was found moderately correlated with 'Distance to coast' (r=0.49). Based on these correlations, 'Annual mean temperature' and 'Elevation' were removed as predictor variables form further analyses; all other variables were kept due to being related to specific predictions driving diversity patterns. 'Max temperature of warmest month' was selected above 'Annual mean temperature', due to its importance explaining more variation as the second component from the PCA analysis (see section above). This left the following global model of explanatory variables in the analyses; 'Annual precipitation', 'Max temperature of warmest month', 'Plant productivity', 'Habitat heterogeneity', 'Distance to coast', 'Ice history' (i.e. kya since ice), 'soil pH', 'Topographic heterogeneity' and 'Population density' (i.e. human population density). The explanatory variables were all standardized in order to directly compare the estimates of the coefficients.

In order to find the most parsimonious model predicting diversity of arctic vertebrate herbivores model selection was performed using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC), as a model averaging approach based on AIC has shown to possibly be the best approach understanding patterns of macro-ecology as it gives consistent and robust results across different methods (Diniz-Filho et al., 2008). The AIC analyses were run for three response variables for the main analyses; phylogenetic diversity of all herbivores, species richness of all herbivores and phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness of all herbivores. All potential models between the null (intercept only) and the global (all explanatory variables listed above, without any interactions) were identified using the 'dredge'-function in the MuMIn package in R (Bartoń, 2016). Top-ranking models of  $\Delta AIC < 3$  were selected as the best-fitted models (Table A3, Appendix 1). A model averaging approach based on AIC, were used to assess the relative importance of all explanatory variables (Figure 5). For each of the nine explanatory variables, estimated coefficients were averaged across the models it was

present and hence weighted to the probability related with each model (Figure 6). In addition, an extra analysis of relative variable importance driving phylogenetic diversity patterns of birds and mammals separately was computed to display any possible differences within the phylogenetic diversity pattern (see Appendix 2).

All statistical analyses were performed using the software program R version 3.3.2 (R Core Team, 2016).

# RESULTS

#### Phylogenetic analysis

The final molecular dataset used in the phylogenetic analyses had 71 taxa, identified from four mitochondrial markers (cytB, COI, 12S, ND4). The topology of the Bayesian analysis is displayed in Figure A1 in Appendix 1. For the diversity pattern analysis (see section under) the taxa of *M. abbreviatus* was removed as the species range was too narrow to appear in the distribution maps, leaving 70 taxa for the final analyses.

#### Diversity patterns of arctic vertebrate herbivores

With the distribution data (Table A1, Appendix 1) and phylogenetic tree (Figure A1, Appendix 1) used in this study, the phylogenetic diversity of arctic vertebrate herbivores (measured using Faith's (1992) calculation of phylogenetic diversity) was generally distributed across the Arctic. The highest phylogenetic diversity was found in the western and southern Nearctic, where around 70% of the total branch length was found (Figure 1a). The Arctic islands revealed generally less phylogenetic diversity than mainland with around 20-40% of all branch lengths, this including big islands such as Greenland, Iceland and the Canadian Islands. A similar pattern was shown when calculating species richness of arctic containing around 40% of total species richness, whereas the Arctic islands contained around 5-20%. This indicated a correlation between phylogenetic diversity and species richness of this trophic group, which was supported by a correlation analysis showing a significant strong correlation (r = 0.85) (Figure 2).



**Figure 1** Distribution maps of (a) phylogenetic diversity, and (b) species richness of arctic vertebrate herbivores, both measured as a proportion of total. Using Lambert Azimuthal Equal Area Projection. In total 1345 grid cells in each map, each cell representing 100x100 km.



**Figure 2** Correlation (r = 0.85) between phylogenetic diversity and species richness of all arctic vertebrate herbivores (both expressed as a proportion of total). The red line shows a 1:1 relationship between phylogenetic diversity and species richness with an intercept of 0 and slope of 1.

Areas of phylogenetic overrepresentation compared to species richness were identified on parts of the coastal zone of Greenland, parts of Svalbard, parts of the western and northern Canadian Islands, on Flaherty Island, on Wrangel Island, and on the Severnaya Zemlya Islands (Figure 3). Here, the phylogenetic diversity was up to six times greater than of species richness. Other central and eastern islands in Canada revealed a phylogenetic diversity up to four times the species richness.



**Figure 3** Distribution map showing representation of phylogenetic diversity per species richness (i.e. PD/SR) of arctic vertebrate herbivores (when both indices originally were measured as 'a proportion of total'). Using Lambert Azimuthal Equal Area Projection. In total 1345 grid cells, each cell representing 100x100 km.

Maps of phylogenetic diversity of arctic herbivorous mammals and birds separately, are shown in Figure 4a-b. Birds represented 30% of total species investigated, whereas mammals represented 70%. The phylogenetic diversity of mammalian herbivores showed a parallel pattern as of phylogenetic diversity of all herbivores (Figure 1b) with a peak in the west- and southern areas of the Nearctic, containing around 65% of the total branch length considering mammals only. Phylogenetic diversity of herbivorous birds was generally high across the entire Arctic (80-100% of total branch length considering birds only), with some areas of lower representation in Greenland, and other arctic islands (around 60%). Further analysis (Figure A3, Appendix 1) showed that phylogenetic diversity of mammals had an almost perfect correlation with phylogenetic diversity of all herbivores (r = 0.99), while phylogenetic diversity of birds had a weak correlation (r = 0.37) with all herbivores. There was also a weak correlation between phylogenetic diversity of birds and mammals (r = 0.28).



**Figure 4** Distribution maps of phylogenetic diversity of (a) Arctic herbivorous birds, (b) Arctic herbivorous mammals, and (c) all wild herbivores. All three maps measured as a proportion of total. Using Lambert Azimuthal Equal Area Projection. In total 1345 grid cells in each map, each cell representing 100x100 km.

Phylogenetic distribution of all arctic vertebrate herbivores when only distribution maps of wild species were included (Figure 4c) showed similar patterns as the phylogenetic diversity when also including semi-domesticated species (i.e *Rangifer tarandus* and *Ovis aries*). This was supported by a correlation analysis (Figure A3, Appendix 1), revealing a complete correlation between the two distribution maps (r = 1.00).

#### Diversity drivers of arctic vertebrate herbivores

Possible explanatory variables driving the diversity patterns presented in Figure 1a-b and Figure 3 were analysed using model selection based on the Akaike Information Criterion. No single model had strong support based on the Akaike weights from the AIC model selection. The cumulative Akaike weight for the best-fitted models with  $\Delta$ AIC < 3 (Table A3, Appendix 1) was 0.88 (five models) for phylogenetic diversity of all herbivorous species, 0.99 (two models) for species richness of all herbivores, and 1.00 (four models) for phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (i.e. PD/SR) of all herbivores.

Variable importance scores (Figure 5) revealed the explanatory variables 'Population density', 'Max temperature of warmest month' (= bio5), 'Annual precipitation' (= bio 12), 'Topographic heterogeneity', 'Habitat heterogeneity' and 'Distance to coast' to be the most important variables (with a score around 100% of the cumulative AIC weight) driving all

three diversity patterns of all herbivores across the Arctic (i.e. patterns of phylogenetic diversity, species richness, and phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness). Secondly, 'Ice history' (= kya since ice) was also found to be one of the most important variables driving patterns of species richness and phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (both with a score around 100%). Considering the phylogenetic diversity pattern, 'Ice history' showed to be slightly less important than of the two other patterns, while still having a score around 90%. 'Plant productivity' (=NDVI) was the variable revealing most variance in the result across the three diversity patterns investigated, with a score around 35% for phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness, and 100% importance for species richness. 'Soil pH' revealed to be the least important variable across all three groups (a score around 25% for all).



#### Relative variable importance

**Figure 5** Variable importance scores for diversity patterns of all herbivores across the Arctic; Phylogenetic diversity (PD; green), species richness (SR; grey), and phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (PD/SR; blue). For each variable, the AIC weight for all models in which it appears is summed to represent the relative importance of the variable. The cumulative weight can be used to set order of importance of each variable, thus it can be understood as the probability of the variable being present in the best-fitted model. Cp\_ndvi\_la is 'Plant productivity', kya\_since\_ice is 'Ice history', bio5 is the 'Max temperature of the warmest month', and bio12 is the 'Annual precipitation'.

The model-averaged coefficient estimates for all variables tested to explain patterns of phylogenetic diversity, species richness, and phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness of arctic vertebrate herbivores, are shown in Figure 6. The coefficient estimates reveal that the most important variables of phylogenetic diversity and species richness (shown in Figure 5) have an effect driving these patterns in the same direction (i.e. both indices either have a positive or a negative effect). This includes the variables; 'Distance to coast', 'Habitat heterogeneity', 'Population density', 'Topographic heterogeneity', 'Annual precipitation', 'Max temperature of warmest month', and to some degree 'Plant productivity'. Interestingly, the estimated coefficient of 'Ice history' (= kya since ice) reveals a positive effect considering phylogenetic diversity of herbivores (0.02) and a slightly negative effect considering species richness of herbivores (-0.005).

Considering the estimated coefficients of variables explaining patterns of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (i.e. PD/SR), several coefficient estimates for important variables (see Figure 5) have the opposite effect (i.e. negative or positive) compared to the coefficient estimates of both phylogenetic diversity and species richness. The estimated coefficient of 'Distance to coast' was around 0.025 for phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness, whereas it was around -0.03 for both phylogenetic diversity and species richness. The estimated coefficient of 'Habitat heterogeneity' was around -0.01 for phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness, while it was around 0.025 for phylogenetic diversity and around 0.05 for species richness. The estimated coefficient of 'Max temperature of the warmest month' was around -0.025 for phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness, whereas it was in the range of 0.05-0.06 for both phylogenetic diversity and species richness. The estimated coefficient of 'Ice history' for phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness was similar to that of species richness (around -0.005). Considering 'Plant productivity' the estimated coefficients were somewhat positive for phylogenetic diversity (around 0.01) and close to 0.00 for species richness, whereas it was slightly negative for phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (around -0.015). The other variables had estimated coefficients quite similar between the three patterns (i.e. being either all negative or all positive), including the variables 'Topographic heterogeneity', 'Population density', and 'Annual precipitation'. The standard errors for all investigated variables had very small range (< 0.005).



#### Model averaged coefficient estimates

**Figure 6** Model averaged coefficients for drivers of phylogenetic diversity (PD; green), species richness (SR; grey), and phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (PD/SR; blue) of all arctic vertebrate herbivores. All predictor variables were standardized. Coefficients of a variable overlapping the vertical dashed line, means the variable had different effect (i.e. positive or negative effect) on the indices (i.e. phylogenetic diversity, species richness and phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness). Variable coefficients not overlapping the dashed line, means it had a similar affect driving value of the indices in the same direction. Standard errors for each point are all marked with arrows. Cp\_ndvi\_la is 'Plant productivity', kya\_since\_ice is 'Ice history', bio5 is 'Max temperature of the warmest month', and bio12 is 'Annual precipitation'.

# DISCUSSION

#### Relationship between patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness

By incorporating phylogenetic analysis and distribution data, this study has made a first attempt to reveal spatial phylogenetic diversity patterns across vertebrate herbivores in the Arctic biome. As expected, a strong correlation (r = 0.85) was found between phylogenetic diversity and species richness. This confirms previous findings of strong correlations between measures of phylogenetic diversity and species richness (e.g. Morlon et al., 2011; Fritz & Rahbek, 2012).

However, due to the analysis not revealing a complete correlation, the data highlights the presence of areas with either over- or underrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity in relation to species richness in arctic vertebrate herbivores. In other words, it suggests areas of phylogenetic clumping or dispersion (Faith, 2008). By incorporating a 1:1 line in the correlation plot (Figure 2), it shows clearly that phylogenetic diversity overall has a trend of being higher than of species richness in the investigated group of species. This suggests that even though arctic terrestrial communities generally hold few species (Meltofte, 2013), the species present span the phylogenetic tree, and generally are distantly related (Vamosi et al., 2009). Stated differently, it implies that arctic areas in general support species not restricted to small mono- or paraphyletic groups, but rather contain polyphyletic groups of vertebrate herbivorous species. It should be added that while this study has investigated patterns on a macro-scale with grid cells of 100x100 km, the findings might appear differently investigating diversity patterns of arctic vertebrate herbivores on a finer scale. As earlier outlined, C. canadensis' placement in the phylogeny used for the analyses in this study (see Figure A1, Appendix 1), disagrees with commonly accepted knowledge placing this taxon within the clade of Rodentia, and may therefore have impacted the result of the phylogenetic diversity patterns.

Considering the results found in this study, one possible explanation for the overall higher phylogenetic diversity compared to species richness (Figure 2) may be due to different dispersal and migration possibilities of birds and mammals (Cáceres et al., 2014). Herbivorous birds have high phylogenetic diversity throughout the Arctic, including arctic

islands (areas representing 60-90% of total avian phylogenetic diversity, see Figure 4a). In comparison, phylogenetic diversity in herbivorous mammals (Figure 4b) is lower across the Arctic overall and is less evenly distributed than that of birds (areas representing 10-80% of total mammalian phylogenetic diversity). However, the mammalian species represent a larger percentage (70%) than avian species (30%) of total species investigated, and will therefore naturally have a greater influence on the overall phylogenetic diversity pattern including all vertebrate herbivores. Simple correlations (Figure A3, Appendix 1) between all three groups (all herbivores, birds, and mammals) reveal that the pattern of mammals and all herbivores have an almost total correlation (r=0.99), whereas the avian pattern has a weak correlation to all herbivores (r=0.37). In addition, there is an even weaker correlation between birds and mammals (r=0.28). This can be interpreted as the mammalian distribution having an effect that is more than 2.5 times that of the avian distribution, on the phylogenetic diversity pattern of all herbivores. However, the even distribution of birds will have an overall impact when looking at phylogenetic diversity pattern in relation to species richness. If both mammalian and avian species are present across the entire Arctic, then all areas will represent a large span across the phylogenetic tree (i.e. have high phylogenetic diversity), even if there are few species present, as shown in Figure 2. Viewed differently, the results can be interpreted that no arctic area withholds phylogenetic clumping of arctic vertebrate herbivores, since no data points showed higher species richness than of phylogenetic diversity in Figure 2. It is also important to be aware of the removal of five species (i.e. D. nelsoni, D. unalascensis, D. vinogradovi, L. portenkoi and M. abbreviatus), as described earlier, may have impacted the final diversity patterns outlined in this study.

Even though the result in this study suggests a general overrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness across arctic vertebrate herbivores, it is even more interesting to ask another question: If there are any areas where phylogenetic diversity is either significantly lower or higher than that of a null hypothesis (Mishler et al., 2014) in which all branches are collapsed to zero length (i.e. value of species richness). In other words, does the observed pattern of phylogenetic diversity reveal higher or lower values than what one could expect if values were only based on counting the taxonomic units (i.e. species)? This is interesting because areas that show a noteworthy over- or underrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity in comparison to a null hypothesis might reflect ecological processes and biogeographic history (Mishler et al., 2014), such as dispersal barriers and processes of colonization and diversification (Fritz & Rahbek, 2012). In this

study, areas with high overrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness were identified on several arctic islands, including parts of Greenland, the Canadian islands, Svalbard, Flaherty Island, Wrangel Island and Severnaya Zemlya Islands (Figure 3). On these islands, the phylogenetic diversity of arctic vertebrate herbivores was as much as six times the species richness (both measured as a proportion). In comparison, the Arctic mainland overall revealed phylogenetic diversity less than three times the species richness. Figure 3 then indicates that the identified arctic islands have a high overrepresentation of long branches from the phylogeny (Figure A1, Appendix 1) considering the amount of taxonomic units (i.e. species) present, compared to the rest of the Arctic.

This pattern of high overrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness on arctic islands could be linked to both historical (i.e. evolutionary) and contemporary (i.e. ecological) factors (see Mishler et al., 2014). Considering historical factors, the areas might be refugial (Barrio et al., 2016) and hence have supported speciation events over a longer period of time compared to the rest of the Arctic (Meltofte, 2013). This statement is supported by previous research exploring historical glaciation of the Arctic islands, revealing several of the identified islands being completely ice-free or to have had ice-free nunataks during the last glacial maximum (Alsos et al., 2009). Furthermore, investigations of zoogeographical boundaries have identified the existence of an intermediate boundary between the Nearctic islands (i.e. the Canadian islands and Greenland) and the rest of the Nearctic (Holt et al., 2013; see Ficetola et al., 2017), placing the northeastern Neartic islands to be more phylogenetic similar to species in the Palearctic than the rest of the Neartic region (Holt et al., 2013). This might insinuate that species present on the arctic islands have either migrated from the Eurasian continent to the Nearctic islands or that species between these areas have been separated by historical vicariance events (Lomolino et al., 2010). If additional species from the Nearctic mainland also have migrated to the islands, this then might impact the phylogenetic diversity in the Nearctic islands since the species present then will be phylogenetic distantly related. Taking the different phylogenetic diversity patterns of birds and mammals into consideration, Figure 4a-b reveals low phylogenetic diversity of mammals and intermediate phylogenetic diversity of birds in the arctic islands, which implies that a large span across the phylogenetic tree will be present in these areas. At the same time, the species richness pattern (Figure 1b) reveals that the same areas of the arctic islands are some of the most species poor in relation to the overall vertebrate herbivore species. These

two factors will therefore result in the high overrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity in relation to species richness.

In an ecological context, the areas of significantly high overrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness might be affected by interspecific competition between close relatives that prevent co-occurrence between these species and hence promotes existence of more distant related species due to low niche overlap (Webb et al., 2002). Taking into consideration that the areas of significantly high overrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity are islands, it is also natural to assume that factors such as island size and degree of isolation will impact the species composition in these areas (Lomolino et al., 2010).

#### Explanatory variables driving diversity patterns

When considering potential factors driving the investigated diversity patterns of arctic vertebrate herbivores seen in Figure 1a-b and Figure 3 (i.e. patterns of phylogenetic diversity, species richness, and patterns of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness), the variables 'Population density' (i.e. human population density), 'Annual precipitation', 'Max temperature of warmest month', environmental heterogeneity (i.e. 'Habitat heterogeneity' and 'Topographic heterogeneity'), and 'Distance to coast' revealed a great importance (i.e. relative to variables tested) across all three patterns (see Figure 5). In addition, the variable of 'Ice history' was found to have great importance relative to the other variables, driving patterns of species richness and phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (scores around 100%), whereas it had a somewhat less importance, but was still strong, driving patterns of phylogenetic diversity (score around 90%). 'Plant productivity' showed most variation in relative importance scores across the three diversity patterns investigated. The variable revealed a strong importance, relative to the other variables, driving species richness patterns (around 100%), which confirms previous findings of plant productivity being one of the main drivers of species richness in arctic vertebrate herbivores (see Barrio et al., 2016). Whereas it revealed a medium or weak importance relative to the other variables considering the two other diversity patterns, suggesting the variable not being important relative to other variables tested driving phylogenetic diversity in this group of species. 'Soil pH' was the only variable revealing a weak importance driving all three diversity patterns having a score

around 25% for all. This also confirming previous findings regarding 'Soil pH' not being important, relative to other variables tested, driving species richness patterns in arctic vertebrate herbivores (see Barrio et al., 2016). Shortly summarized, the variable importance scores (Figure 5) implies that all explanatory variables investigated, except for 'Soil pH', 'Plant productivity', and to some extent 'Ice history', have an equally strong support being important factors (i.e. relative to variables tested) driving patterns of phylogenetic diversity, species richness and phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness in arctic vertebrate herbivores. Considering the result revealing most of the variables tested to be highly important relative to each other, this result may also support previous findings suggesting arctic communities being far more complex than former assumed (Meltofte, 2013).

Furthermore, considering seven out of nine variables revealing almost identical scores of importance across all patterns investigated (Figure 5) and additionally patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness generally being strongly correlated (Figure 2), this makes it difficult to interpret whether these variables are driving phylogenetic diversity patterns directly, or if the variables instead have an indirect effect driving patterns of species richness in areas where there is high correlation between these indices. Therefore, more information may be provided examining estimated coefficients for all important variables, as this will give indications if there are variables affecting the relationship between patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness (i.e. in this case looking at estimated coefficients of variables driving the pattern of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness).

As expected based on previous studies mostly identifying factors driving species richness, variables having a positive impact driving phylogenetic diversity in this study were; 'Plant productivity' (Sandom et al., 2013; Barrio et al., 2016), the climatic factor 'Max temperature of warmest month' (Hawkins et al., 2003), 'Habitat heterogeneity' (Sandom et al., 2013), and 'Topographic heterogeneity' (Meltofte, 2013). It was also expected that 'Soil pH' possibly could have a positive impact driving patterns of phylogenetic diversity of arctic herbivores, on the basis of being one of the main drivers of vascular plants (Gough et al., 2000), but as earlier mentioned this variable were not found important driving the diversity patterns in this study. As expected, both 'Distance to coast' and 'Population density' (i.e. human population density) had a negative impact on patterns of phylogenetic diversity, as well as for patterns of species richness. Interestingly, as predicted 'Ice history' was the only variable showing a positive trend driving phylogenetic diversity whereas it was slightly

negative for species richness. This indicates that areas which has been ice-free for a longer time period holds more phylogenetic diversity, but are not necessarily more species rich. As previous mentioned, this may be due areas previously being refugial where species has been isolated for a longer period of time, hence have had more time supporting speciation events (Waltari & Cook, 2005; Meltofte, 2013). With results discussed above, it is still important to acknowledge the possible influence different classes of species (i.e. avian and mammalian) might have on the overall result of explanatory variables driving phylogenetic diversity patterns in this study. Therefore, additional analyses testing the explanatory variables driving phylogenetic diversity patterns of birds and mammals separately were computed in order to briefly display possible differences between them (see Appendix 2).

All but two of the variables showing great relative importance explaining the diversity patterns, reveals having a negative effect on the pattern of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (Figure 6). This includes; 'Habitat heterogeneity', 'Annual precipitation', 'Max temperature of warmest month', 'Ice history', and somewhat 'Population density'. This result suggests that an increase in either of these variables will decrease the ratio between phylogenetic diversity and species richness, since all arctic areas revealed to have an higher representation of phylogenetic diversity than of species richness (Figure 2). In other words, an increase in either of these variables mentioned will drive areas to either become more species rich or less phylogenetically diverse considered in relation to each other. Interestingly, the results reveal positive coefficient estimates for the variables 'Distance to coast' and 'Topographic heterogeneity' in the pattern of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness. Considering 'Distance to coast', the estimated coefficients of both phylogenetic diversity and species richness are negative, confirming expectations decreasing phylogenetic diversity and species richness when moving further from the coast. However, moving further inland also increases the ratio between these measurements, suggesting an areas distance to coastline being more important driving phylogenetic diversity patterns than of species richness patterns in the investigated group of species. When considering 'Topographic heterogeneity', the result shows positive coefficients for both phylogenetic diversity and species richness, supporting expectations of areas consisting of more heterogeneous topography to be more phylogenetic diverse and species rich (Meltofte, 2013). Additionally, 'Topographic heterogeneity' will also increase the ratio of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness, suggesting this variable being more important driving patterns of phylogenetic diversity than of species richness in arctic vertebrate herbivores. Put together, these results suggest a greater difference between measures of phylogenetic diversity and species richness in arctic vertebrate herbivores in areas that are more topographically heterogeneous and further inland. In the end, one must also acknowledge that the actual ratio between the indices of arctic vertebrate herbivores will also be dependent on the value of other important variables found in the same area, which includes other variables yet to be investigated in addition to the variables investigated in this study.

#### **Concluding remarks**

To summarize, this study has illustrated that incorporation of phylogenetic diversity measurements in biodiversity analyses provides new insights of diversity patterns and mechanisms driving these patterns in arctic vertebrate herbivores. A strong correlation was found between patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness on this studied group of species. Further, correlation analyses revealed phylogenetic diversity overall being higher than of species richness across the Arctic. Several arctic islands were identified having a high overrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness, suggesting these areas representing a span across the phylogenetic tree even though being quite species-poor compared to the Arctic mainland. Finally, several explanatory variables were identified as important, relative to each other, driving the ratio between the patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness in vertebrate herbivores across the Arctic. The variables of 'Plant productivity', 'Ice history', 'Max temperature of warmest month', 'Annual precipitation', 'Habitat heterogeneity' and to some extent 'Population density' were found to have a negative effect on the pattern of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness. On the other hand, the variables 'Topographic heterogeneity' and 'Distance to coast' was revealed to have a positive effect, increasing the ratio between the patterns of phylogenetic diversity and species richness of arctic vertebrate herbivores.

When further considering the Arctic being particularly vulnerable to climate change and other environmental changes (Meltofte, 2013; Turetsky et al., 2017), incorporation of phylogenetic diversity measurements in conservation challenges (Faith, 2008) in this region can provide new information. The measurement offers a more objective approach (Hartmann & André, 2013) to avoid debating conservation priorities solely on a species-level, because when using phylogenetic diversity measurements, you aim to conserve as much hierarchical

variation as the available resources permit (Faith, 1992; Faith & Baker, 2006). In other words, using phylogenetic diversity in conservation assessments takes into account the relationship between species, and therefore ancestral branches between the existing species are also considered in the calculations (Faith, 2008). This study has focused on investigating the total branch length of the vertebrate herbivorous species present in areas across the Arctic, also investigated relative to species richness patterns. As formerly discussed, areas of the northwestern Nearctic were found to be the most phylogenetic tree) (Figure 1a), whereas several arctic islands were found to have the highest overrepresentation of phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (i.e. have representation of the longest total branch length of the phylogenetic tree) (Figure 1a) branch length of the phylogenetic tree per species present) (Figure 3). These results can be used to motivate further research, such as investigating phylogenetic endemism (Faith, 2008) of arctic vertebrate herbivores at a level of features-within-areas rather than species-within-areas, in order to reveal if there are any branches or whole clades restricted to certain areas of the Arctic.

### REFERENCES

- Alaska Geobotany Center (2010). Circumpolar Arctic Region datasets (old versions) Retrieved from http://data.arcticatlas.org/geodata/cp/oldversions/
- Alaska Geobotany Center (2012a). Circumpolar Arctic Coastline and Treeline Boundary. Retrieved from http://www.arcticatlas.org/maps/themes/cp/cpcoast
- Alaska Geobotany Center (2012b). Circumpolar Arctic NDVI and Phytomass. Retrieved from http://www.arcticatlas.org/maps/themes/cp/cpndph
- Alsos, I. G., Gillespie, L., & Marusik, Y. M. (2009). Arctic islands, biology. In R. Gillespie
  & D. Clague (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Islands* (pp. 47-54). Berkerley and Los Angeles, CA: University of California Press.
- Barrio, I. C., Bueno, C. G., Gartzia, M., Soininen, E. M., Christie, K. S., Speed, J. D. M., ... Hik, D. S. (2016). Biotic interactions mediate patterns of herbivore diversity in the Arctic. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 25(9), 1108-1118. doi:10.1111/geb.12470
- Bartoń, K. (2016). MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.15.6. Retrieved from https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn
- Birdlife International & NatureServe. (2013). Bird species distribution maps of the world. Available at: http://www.birdlife.org/
- Cáceres, N. C., Dambros, C. S., Melo, G. L., Sponchiado, J., Della-Flora, F., & Moura, M. O. (2014). Local randomness, vegetation type and dispersal drive bird and mammal's diversity in a tropical South American region. *Ecosphere*, 5(9), 1-11. doi:10.1890/ES14-00040.1
- Cadotte, M. W., Dinnage, R., & Tilman, D. (2012). Phylogenetic diversity promotes ecosystem stability. *Ecology*, *93*(8), S223-S233. doi:10.1890/11-0426.1
- Cadotte, M. W., Jonathan Davies, T., Regetz, J., Kembel, S. W., Cleland, E., & Oakley, T. H. (2010). Phylogenetic diversity metrics for ecological communities: integrating species richness, abundance and evolutionary history. *Ecology letters*, 13(1), 96-105. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01405.x
- Diniz-Filho, J. A. F., Rangel, T. F. L. V. B., & Bini, L. M. (2008). Model selection and information theory in geographical ecology. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 17(4), 479-488. doi:10.1111/j.1466-8238.2008.00395.x
- European Space Agency (ESA) GlobCover Project. (2009). GlobCover Land Cover Maps. Retrieved from http://due.esrin.esa.int/page\_globcover.php
- Faith, D. P. (1992). Conservation evaluation and phylogenetic diversity. *Biological* conservation, 61(1), 1-10.
- Faith, D. P. (2008). Phylogenetic Diversity and Conservation. In S. P. Carroll & C. W. Fox (Eds.), *Conservation Biology* (pp. 99-115). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Faith, D. P., & Baker, A. M. (2006). Phylogenetic diversity (PD) and biodiversity conservation: some bioinformatics challenges. *Evolutionary Bioinformatics*, *2*, 121-128.

- Faith, D. P., Reid, C. A. M., & Hunter, J. (2004). Integrating Phylogenetic Diversity, Complementarity, and Endemism for Conservation Assessment. *Conservation Biology*, 18(1), 255-261. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2004.00330.x
- Faith, D. P., & Williams, K. J. (2006). How large-scale DNA barcoding programs can boost biodiversity conservation planning: Linking phylogenetic diversity (PD) analyses to the Barcode of Life Database (BoLD) *McGraw-Hill Yearbook of Science & Technology* (pp. 233-235). United States of America: The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.
- Ficetola, G. F., Mazel, F., & Thuiller, W. (2017). Global determinants of zoogeographical boundaries. *Nature Ecology & Evolution, 1*, 1-7.
- Fick, S. E., & Hijmans, R. J. (2017). Worldclim 2: New 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. *International Journal of Climatology*.
- Field, R., Hawkins, B. A., Cornell, H. V., Currie, D. J., Diniz-Filho, J. A. F., Guégan, J.-F., . .
  Turner, J. R. G. (2009). Spatial species-richness gradients across scales: a metaanalysis. *Journal of Biogeography*, 36(1), 132-147. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2699.2008.01963.x
- Flynn, D. F. B., Mirotchnick, N., Jain, M., Palmer, M. I., & Naeem, S. (2011). Functional and phylogenetic diversity as predictors of biodiversity–ecosystem-function relationships. *Ecology*, 92(8), 1573-1581. doi:10.1890/10-1245.1
- Foster, C. N., Barton, P. S., & Lindenmayer, D. B. (2014). Effects of large native herbivores on other animals. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 51(4), 929-938. doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12268
- Fritz, S. A., & Rahbek, C. (2012). Global patterns of amphibian phylogenetic diversity. *Journal of Biogeography*, *39*(8), 1373-1382. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2699.2012.02757.x
- González-Orozco, C. E., Pollock, L. J., Thornhill, A. H., Mishler, B. D., Knerr, N., Laffan, S. W., . . . Nipperess, D. A. (2016). Phylogenetic approaches reveal biodiversity threats under climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 6(12), 1110-1114. doi:10.1038/nclimate3126
- Gough, L., Shaver, G. R., Carroll, J., Royer, D. L., & Laundre, J. A. (2000). Vascular plant species richness in Alaskan arctic tundra: the importance of soil pH. *Journal of Ecology*, 88(1), 54-66. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2745.2000.00426.x
- Hartmann, K., & André, J. (2013). Should evolutionary history guide conservation? *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 22(2), 449-458. doi:10.1007/s10531-012-0422-z
- Hawkins, B. A., Field, R., Cornell, H. V., Currie, D. J., Guégan, J.-F., Kaufman, D. M., ... Turner, J. R. G. (2003). Energy, water, and broad-scale geographic patterns of species richness *Ecology*, 84(12), 3105-3117. doi:10.1890/03-8006
- Hedges, S. B., Dudley, J., & Kumar, S. (2006). TimeTree: a public knowledge-base of divergence times among organisms. *Bioinformatics*, 22(23), 2971-2972. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btl505
- Helmus, M. R., Bland, T. J., Williams, C. K., & Ives, A. R. (2007). Phylogenetic measures of biodiversity. *The American Naturalist*, 169(3), E68-E83. doi:10.1086/511334
- Holt, B. G., Lessard, J.-P., Borregaard, M. K., Fritz, S. A., Araújo, M. B., Dimitrov, D., ... Rahbek, C. (2013). An Update of Wallace's Zoogeographic Regions of the World. *Science*, 339(6115), 74-78. doi:10.1126/science.1228282

- Huelsenbeck, J. P., & Ronquist, F. (2001). MRBAYES: Bayesian inference of phylogenetic trees. *Bioinformatics*, 17(8), 754-755.
- IGBP PAGES/World Data Center for Paleoclimatology. (1993). *Time Dependent Topography Through Glacial Cycle* Retrieved from: ftp://ftp.ncdc.noaa.gov/pub/data/paleo/ice\_topo/
- IGBP-DIS. (1998). SoilData(V.0) A program for creating global soil-property databases, IGBP Global Soils Data Task, France. Retrieved from: http://atlas.sage.wisc.edu/
- Isaac, N. J., Mallet, J., & Mace, G. M. (2004). Taxonomic inflation: its influence on macroecology and conservation. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 19(9), 464-469. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2004.06.004
- IUCN. (2013). The IUCN Red List of threatened species, version 2013.2. Available at: http://www.iucnredlist.org/
- Katoh, K., & Standley, D. M. (2013). MAFFT multiple sequence alignment software version
  7: improvements in performance and usability. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 30(4), 772-780. doi:10.1093/molbev/mst010
- Laffan, S. W., Lubarsky, E., & Rosauer, D. F. (2010). Biodiverse, a tool for the spatial analysis of biological and related diversity. *Ecography*, *33*(4), 643-647. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0587.2010.06237.x
- Lanfear, R., Calcott, B., Ho, S. Y., & Guindon, S. (2012). PartitionFinder: Combined selection of partitioning schemes and substitution models for phylogenetic analyses. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 29(6), 1695-1701. doi:10.1093/molbev/mss020
- Lomolino, M. V., Riddle, B. R., Whittaker, R. J., & Brown, J. H. (2010). *Biogeography* (4th ed.). (*pp457-557*). Sunderland, Massachusetts USA: Sinauer Associates.
- Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Inchausti, P., Bengtsson, J., Grime, J. P., Hector, A., . . . Wardle, D.
   A. (2001). Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: Current knowledge and future challenges. *Science*, 294(5543), 804-808. doi:10.1126/science.1064088
- Maddison, D. R., & Schulz, K.-S. (2007). The Tree of Life Web Project. *Internet address:* http://tolweb.org.
- Mazel, F., Renaud, J., Guilhaumon, F., Mouillot, D., Gravel, D., & Thuiller, W. (2015). Mammalian phylogenetic diversity–area relationships at a continental scale. *Ecology*, 96(10), 2814-2822. doi:10.1890/14-1858.1
- Meltofte, H. (2013). Arctic Biodiversity Assessment. Status and trends in Arctic biodiversity. (pp. 20-65, 67-77, 85-97, 144-171, 386-340). Akureyri: Conservation of Arctic Flora and Fauna
- Miraldo, A., Li, S., Borregaard, M. K., Flórez-Rodríguez, A., Gopalakrishnan, S., Rizvanovic, M., . . . Nogués-Bravo, D. (2016). An Anthropocene map of genetic diversity. *Science*, 353(6307), 1532-1535. doi:10.1126/science.aaf4381
- Mishler, B. D., Knerr, N., González-Orozco, C. E., Thornhill, A. H., Laffan, S. W., & Miller, J. T. (2014). Phylogenetic measures of biodiversity and neo-and paleo-endemism in Australian Acacia. *Nature Communications*, 5. doi:10.1038/ncomms5473
- Morlon, H., Schwilk, D. W., Bryant, J. A., Marquet, P. A., Rebelo, A. G., Tauss, C., . . . Green, J. L. (2011). Spatial patterns of phylogenetic diversity. *Ecology letters*, 14(2), 141-149. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01563.x

- Mulder, C. P. (1999). Vertebrate herbivores and plants in the Arctic and subarctic: effects on individuals, populations, communities and ecosystems. *Perspectives in plant ecology, evolution and systematics, 2*(1), 29-55.
- R Core Team. (2016). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from https://www.rproject.org/
- Ritchie, M., & Olff, H. (1999). Herbivore diversity and plant dynamics: compensatory and additive effects. *Herbivores: between plants and predators*, 175-204.
- Ronquist, F., & Huelsenbeck, J. P. (2003). MrBayes 3: Bayesian phylogenetic inference under mixed models. *Bioinformatics*, 19(12), 1572-1574. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btg180
- Sandom, C., Dalby, L., Fløjgaard, C., Kissling, W. D., Lenoir, J., Sandel, B., . . . Svenning, J.-C. (2013). Mammal predator and prey species richness are strongly linked at macroscales. *Ecology*, 94(5), 1112-1122. doi:10.1890/12-1342.1
- Schmidt, N. M., Hardwick, B., Gilg, O., Høye, T. T., Krogh, P. H., Meltofte, H., . . . Roslin, T. (2017). Interaction webs in arctic ecosystems: Determinants of arctic change? *Ambio*, 46(1), 12-25. doi:10.1007/s13280-016-0862-x
- Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (2004). Gridded Population of the World (GPW), v3. Retrieved from http://sedac.ciesin.columbia.edu/data/collection/gpw-v3
- Thuiller, W., Lavergne, S., Roquet, C., Boulangeat, I., Lafourcade, B., & Araujo, M. B. (2011). Consequences of climate change on the tree of life in Europe. *Nature*, 470(7335), 531-534. doi:10.1038/nature09705
- Turetsky, M. R., Baltzer, J. L., Johnstone, J. F., Mack, M. C., McCann, K., & Schuur, E. A. (2017). Losing legacies, ecological release, and transient responses: Key challenges for the future of northern ecosystem science. *Ecosystems*, 20(1), 23-30. doi:10.1007/s10021-016-0055-2
- Vamosi, S., Heard, S., Vamosi, J., & Webb, C. (2009). Emerging patterns in the comparative analysis of phylogenetic community structure. *Molecular Ecology*, *18*(4), 572-592. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.04001.x.
- Van der Wal, R., Bardgett, R. D., Harrison, K. A., & Stien, A. (2004). Vertebrate herbivores and ecosystem control: cascading effects of faeces on tundra ecosystems. *Ecography*, 27(2), 242-252. doi:10.1111/j.0906-7590.2004.03688.x
- Waltari, E., & Cook, J. A. (2005). Hares on ice: phylogeography and historical demographics of Lepus arcticus, L. othus, and L. timidus (Mammalia: Lagomorpha). *Molecular Ecology*, 14(10), 3005-3016. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2005.02625.x
- Webb, C. O., Ackerly, D. D., McPeek, M. A., & Donoghue, M. J. (2002). Phylogenies and community ecology. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 33(1), 475-505. doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.33.010802.150448
- Yang, Z., Liu, X., Zhou, M., Ai, D., Wang, G., Wang, Y., . . . Lundholm, J. T. (2015). The effect of environmental heterogeneity on species richness depends on community position along the environmental gradient. *Scientific reports*, 5, 1-7. doi:10.1038/srep15723

# APPENDIX

### Appendix 1

**Table A1** List of investigated species, all vertebrate herbivores present in the Arctic region (including the Subarctic region). Species removed from the analysis due to missing molecular data in the phylogenetic analysis or due to too small range to occur in the grid cells (when each cell were 100x100 km) are marked in red. For the analyses, four species distribution datasets were made: (1) all herbivores also including the semi-domesticated species *Ovis aries* and *Rangifer tarandus*. (2) All avian species. (3) All mammalian species, including semi-domesticated species. (4) All herbivores excluding the semi-domesticated species).

Class	Order	Family	Species	Common name
Mammalia	Lagomorpha	Leporidae	Lepus americanus	Snowshoe hare
Mammalia	Lagomorpha	Leporidae	Lepus arcticus	Arctic hare
Mammalia	Lagomorpha	Leporidae	Lepus othus	Alaskan hare
Mammalia	Lagomorpha	Leporidae	Lepus timidus	Mountain hare
Mammalia	Lagomorpha	Ochotonidae	Ochotona collaris	Collared pika
Mammalia	Lagomorpha	Ochotonidae	Ochotona hyperborea	Northern pika
Mammalia	Lagomorpha	Ochotonidae	Ochotona turuchanensis	Turuchan pika
Mammalia	Rodentia	Castoridae	Castor canadensis	American bever
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Arvicola amphibius	Water vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Alticola lemminus	Mountain vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus abbreviatus	Insular vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus chrotorrhinus	Rock vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus gregalis	Narrow-headed vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus hyperboreus	North Siberian vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus levis	East European vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus longicaudus	Long-tailed vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus middendorffii	Middendorff's vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus miurus	Singing vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus oeconomus	Tundra vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus pennsylvanicus	Meadow vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Microtus xanthognathus	Taiga vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Myodes gapperi	Southern red-backed vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Myodes rufocanus	Grey red-backed vole
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Myodes rutilus	Northern red-backed vole

Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Dicrostonyx hudsonius	Ungava collared lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Dicrostonyx groenlandicus	Nearctic collared lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Dicrostonyx nelsoni	Nelson's collared lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Dicrostonyx richardsoni	Richardson's collared lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Dicrostonyx torquatus	Palearctic collared lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Dicrostonyx unalascensis	Umnak Island collared lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Dicrostonyx vinogradovi	Wrangel Island collared lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Lemmus amurensis	Amur lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Lemmus lemmus	Norway lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Lemmus portenkoi	Wrangel Island brown lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Lemmus sibiricus	Siberian brown lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Lemmus trimucronatus	Nearctic brown lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Synaptomus borealis	Northern bog lemming	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Cricetidae	Ondarta zibethicus	Muskrat	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Dipodidae	Sicista betulina	Boreal birch mouse	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Erethizontidae	Erethizon dorsatum	North American porcupine	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Muridae	Apodemus sylvaticus	Long-tailed field mouse	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Sciuridae	Marmota broweri	Alaskan marmot	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Sciuridae	Marmota caligata	Hoary marmot	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Sciuridae	Marmota camtschatica	Black-capped marmot	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Sciuridae	Marmota monax	Woodchuck	
Mammalia	Rodentia	Sciuridae	Spermophilus parryii	Arctic ground squirrel	
Mammalia	Ungulata	Bovidae	Bison bison	American bison	
Mammalia	Ungulata	Bovidae	Ovibos moschatus	Muskox	
Mammalia	Ungulata	Bovidae	Ovis aries	Domestic sheep	
Mammalia	Ungulata	Bovidae	Ovis dalli	Dall's sheep	
Mammalia	Ungulata	Bovidae	Ovis nivicola	Snow sheep	
Mammalia	Ungulata	Cervidae	Alces alces	Eurasian elk	
Mammalia	Ungulata	Cervidae	Alces americanus	Moose	
Mammalia	Ungulata	Cervidae	Rangifer tarandus	Caribou/reindeer	

Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Anas americana	American Wigeon
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Anas penelope	Eurasian Wigeon
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Anser albifrons	Greater white-fronted goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Anser anser	Greylag goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Anser brachyrhynchus	Pink footed goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Anser erythropus	Lesser white-fronted goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Anser fabalis	Bean goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Branta bernicla	Brent goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Branta canadensis	Canada goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Branta hutchinsii	Crackling goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Branta leucopsis	Russian barnacle goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Branta ruficollis	Red-breasted goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Chen caerulescens	Snow goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Chen canagica	Emperor goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Chen rossii	Ross's goose
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Cygnus buccinator	Trumpeter swan
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Cygnus columbianus	Tundra swan
Aves	Anseriformes	Anatidae	Cygnus cygnus	Whooper swan
Aves	Galliformes	Phasianidae	Lagopus lagopus	Willow ptarmigan
Aves	Galliformes	Phasianidae	Lagopus leucura	White-tailed ptarmigan
Aves	Galliformes	Phasianidae	Lagopus muta	Rock ptarmigan

**Table A2** List of accession numbers for each taxon (i.e. species) used in the Bayesian phylogenetic analyses (see Figure A1). Four mitochondrial markers were used when available; cytochrome B – cytB; cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 - COI; 12S ribosomal RNA; 12S; NADH dehydrogenase subunit 4 - ND4.

Alces_alces         KC337273.1         KX859263.1           Alces_americanus         M98484.1         JF443170.1           Alticola_lemminus         KJ556633.1           Anas_americana         AF059103.1         DQ433309.1           Anas_penelope         AF059103.1         DQ433314.1         AY164518.1           Anser_anser         AY12781.1         GUS71229.1         AY164530.1         DQ468124.1           Anser_anser         AY42781.1         GUS71279.1         AY164514.1         Asser_fabalis         EUS85613.1         FJ808625.1         AY164514.1           Anser_fabalis         EUS85618.1         FJ808625.1         AY164514.1         AF128938.1           Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GUS71279.1         HM063557.1         Branta_bernicla           Branta_canadensis         EUS8560.1         GUS71283.1         AF128938.1         Branta_canadensis         EUS8563.1           Branta_coposis         EUS8563.1         CUS71283.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_canglica         EUS8561.1         DQ434537.1         CHen_canglica         EUS8563.1           Cygnus_columbianus         EUS85642.1         DQ434537.1         CHen_canglica         EUS85643.1         GUS71283.1         AY164523.1           Cyg	Taxon	cytB	COI	12S	ND4
Alces_americanus         M98484.1         JF443170.1           Alticola_lemminus         KJ556633.1           Anas_americana         AF059103.1         DQ433309.1           Anas_penelope         AF059107.1         GU571239.1         AY164518.1           Anser_albifrons         EU585612.1         DQ433314.1         AY164531.1           Anser_anser         AY427814.1         GU571242.1         AY164531.1           Anser_erythropus         EU585617.1         GU571242.1         AY164514.1           Anser_erythropus         EU585617.1         GU571242.1         AY164514.1           Arvicola_amphibius         KM005047.1         AY332681.1         AJ11131.1           Arvicola_amphibius         KM005047.1         AY332681.1         AF128938.1           Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GU571279.1         HM063557.1           Branta_burchinsii         AY072593.1         DQ43443.1         AF173715.1           Branta_leucopsis         EU585631.1         Castor_canadensis         KY321562.1         LC144616.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_caarugica         EU585631.1         Castor_canadensis         KY321562.1         LC144616.1         AY102111.1         JQ663965.1           Cygnus_oucniator         AY509690.1 <td>Alces_alces</td> <td>KC337273.1</td> <td>KX859263.1</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Alces_alces	KC337273.1	KX859263.1		
Alticola_lemminus         K1556633.1           Anas_mericana         AF059103.1         DQ433309.1           Anas_meleope         AF059107.1         GU571239.1         AY164518.1           Anser_albiffons         EU585612.1         DQ433314.1         AY164531.1           Anser_anser         AY427814.1         GU571242.1         AY164530.1         DQ468124.1           Anser_fribrous         EU585617.1         GU571279.1         Ay164514.1         Ap0demus_sylvaticus         KM58049.1         KP869163.1         Ay1113.1         AF128938.1           Bison_bison         AF036273.1         JF443195.1         Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GU571279.1         HM063557.1           Branta_ta_enadensis         EU585663.1         GU571283.1         Branta_hutchinsii         AY072593.1         DQ434479.1           Branta_nutchinsii         AY072593.1         DQ434479.1         EU58563.1         GU571283.1         GU571243.1           Branta_futchinsii         EU585663.1         GU571283.1         GU57143.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_cacarulescens         X77190.1         DQ434453.1         L87374.1         Cygnus_upuccinator         AY509690.1         AY66404.1         U59667.1         Cygnus_upuccinator         AY509690.1         AY66404.1         U59667.1	Alces_americanus	M98484.1	JF443170.1		
Anas_americana         AF059103.1         DQ433309.1           Anas_penelope         AF059107.1         GU571239.1         AY164518.1           Anser_albifrons         EU585612.1         DQ43314.1         AY164531.1           Anser_albifrons         EU585612.1         DQ43314.1         AY164530.1         DQ468124.1           Anser_fabalis         EU585617.1         GU571242.1         AY164514.1         Anser_fabalis         EU585618.1         FJ808625.1         AY164514.1           Anser_fabalis         EU585618.1         FJ808625.1         AY164514.1         AF128938.1           Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GU571279.1         HM063557.1           Branta_canadensis         EU585630.1         GU571279.1         HM063557.1           Branta_totchinsii         AV072593.1         DQ434443.1         AF173715.1           Branta_ficollis         EU585631.1         GU571279.1         HM63557.1           Branta_ficollis         EU585615.1         AF173714.1         Chen_caanalesis         KY321562.1         LC144616.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_caangica         EU585615.1         AF173714.1         Chen_cossi         EU914156.1         DQ434538.1         U83734.1           Cygnus_buccinator         AY509690.1	Alticola_lemminus	KJ556633.1			
Anas_penelope         AF059107.1         GU571239.1         AY164518.1           Anser_albifrons         EU585612.1         DQ43314.1         AY164531.1           Anser_anser         AY427814.1         GU571242.1         AY164530.1         DQ468124.1           Anser_brachyrhynchus         EU585617.1         GU571242.1         AY164514.1         Arser_brachyrhynchus         EU585617.1         GU571242.1         AY164514.1         Arser_brachyrhynchus         EU585617.1         GU571279.1         AY164514.1         AF128938.1           Anser_arphibius         KM050047.1         AY332681.1         AY164514.1         AF128938.1           Bison_bison         AF036273.1         JF443195.1         JF443195.1         JF4731715.1           Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GU571279.1         HM063557.1         JR434437.1           Branta_nutchinsii         AY072593.1         DQ434437.1         JG663965.1           Chen_canagica         EU585615.1         C144616.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_canagica         EU585642.1         DQ434538.1         U83734.1         Cygnus_columbianus         EU585642.1         DQ434538.1         U83734.1         Cygnus_columbianus         EU585642.1         DQ433580.1         Cygnus_columbianus         EU585643.1         GU5713	Anas_americana	AF059103.1	DQ433309.1		
Anser_albifrons         EU585612.1         DQ433314.1         AY164531.1           Anser_anser         AY427814.1         GU571242.1         AY164530.1         DQ468124.1           Anser_prachyrhynchus         EU585614.1         GU571242.1         AY164530.1         DQ468124.1           Anser_fabalis         EU585617.1         GU571279.1         ANarefabalis         EU585618.1         FJ808625.1         AY164514.1           Apodemus_sylvaticus         KM582049.1         KP869163.1         AJ31113.1         AF128938.1           Bison_bison         AF036273.1         JF443195.1         AF173715.1         Branta_bernicla           Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GU571279.1         HM063557.1         Branta_cucopsis           Branta_leucopsis         EU585631.1         QC434479.1         Branta_leucopsis         EU58561.1           Chen_carulescens         X71190.1         DQ434537.1         Chen_caragica         EU585615.1         AF173714.1           Chen_carulescens         X71190.1         DQ434537.1         Chen_carulescens         Cyguus_oucoinator         AY50690.1         AY66404.1         U59667.1           Cyguus_oucinator         AY505690.1         AY64550.1         AY164523.1         Dicrostonyx_inchardsonius         AJ238436.1         JF456464.1         A	Anas_penelope	AF059107.1	GU571239.1	AY164518.1	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Anser_albifrons	EU585612.1	DQ433314.1	AY164531.1	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Anser_anser	AY427814.1	GU571242.1	AY164530.1	DQ468124.1
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Anser_brachyrhynchus	EU585614.1	GU571244.1		
Anser_fabalis         EU\$85618.1         FJ808625.1         AY164514.1           Apodemus_sylvaticus         KM82049.1         KP869163.1         AJ311131.1           Arvicola_amphibius         KM005047.1         AY32681.1         AJ311131.1           Bison_bison         AF036273.1         JF443195.1         Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GUS71279.1         HM063557.1           Branta_canadensis         EU585629.1         DQ434443.1         AF173715.1         Branta_canadensis         FUS85631.1           Castor_canadensis         KY321562.1         LC144616.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_canagica         EU585630.1         GUS71283.1         BV3734.1         Cygous_buccinator         AY509690.1         AY66404.1         U59667.1         Cygnus_clumbianus         EU585643.1         GUS71360.1         AY164523.1         Dicrostonyx_nichardsoni         AJ238436.1         JF456464.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_nicongunus         KJ258673.7.1         F458649.1         AY012118.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_nicongunus         KJ28436.1         JF456464.1         AY012118.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_nicongunus         KJ28436.1         JF456491.1         AF128937.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_induards	Anser_erythropus	EU585617.1	GU571729.1		
Apodemus_sylvaticus         KM582049.1         KP869163.1         AJ311131.1           Arvicola_amphibius         KM005047.1         AY32681.1         AF128938.1           Bison_bison         AF036273.1         JF443195.1         AF128938.1           Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GU571279.1         HM063557.1           Branta_canadensis         EU585629.1         DQ434443.1         AF173715.1           Branta_luchinsii         AY072593.1         DQ434479.1         Branta_canadensis           Branta_lucopsis         EU585631.1         GU571283.1         JQ663965.1           Castor_canadensis         KY321562.1         LC144616.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_canagica         EU585615.1         AF173714.1         JQ663965.1           Cygnus_columbianus         EU585643.1         GU571360.1         AY164523.1           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         KJ556713.1         JF456464.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_indkonius         AJ238436.1         JF456491.1         JF458491.1           Dicrostonyx_indusonius         AJ238436.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1           Lagopus_leucura         AF230171.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1           Legopus_diagopus         EF571187.1	Anser_fabalis	EU585618.1	FJ808625.1	AY164514.1	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Apodemus_sylvaticus	KM582049.1	KP869163.1	AJ311131.1	
Bison_bison         AF036273.1         JF443195.1           Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GU571279.1         HM063557.1           Branta_canadensis         EU585629.1         DQ4344479.1         AF173715.1           Branta_leucopsis         EU585630.1         GU571283.1         Branta_canadensis           Branta_leucopsis         EU585631.1         Castor_canadensis         KY321562.1         LC144616.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_caerulescens         X77190.1         DQ4344537.1         Chen_canagica         EU585615.1         AF173714.1           Chen_caengica         EU585615.1         AF173714.1         Cygnus_buccinator         AY509690.1         AY666404.1         U59667.1           Cygnus_buccinator         AY509690.1         AY666404.1         U59667.1         Cygnus_cygnus         EU585643.1         GU571360.1         AY164523.1           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         KJ556713.1         JF456491.1         Dicrostonyx_richardsoni         AJ238436.1         JF456491.1         Dicrostonyx_richardsoni         AJ238436.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1         Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1         Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU53373.1         KC785614.1         Lemmus_sibiricus         AY156346.1 <td>Arvicola_amphibius</td> <td>KM005047.1</td> <td>AY332681.1</td> <td></td> <td>AF128938.1</td>	Arvicola_amphibius	KM005047.1	AY332681.1		AF128938.1
Branta_bernicla         HM063580.1         GU571279.1         HM063557.1           Branta_canadensis         EU585629.1         DQ434443.1         AF173715.1           Branta_nutchinsii         AY072593.1         DQ434479.1         Branta_leucopsis           Branta_leucopsis         EU585630.1         GU571283.1         Branta_ruficollis         EU585631.1           Castor_canadensis         KY321562.1         LC144616.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_canagica         EU585615.1         AF173714.1         Chen_cossi         Cygnus_buccinator           Cygnus_buccinator         AY509690.1         AY666404.1         U59667.1         Cygnus_cygnus           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         KJ556713.1         JF456464.1         AY164523.1         Dicrostonyx_ichardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF456491.1           Dicrostonyx_ichardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1         Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1           Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1         Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1           Lemmus_amurensis         FJ025979.1         Lemmus_trimucronatus         AF128977.1         Lemus_trimucronatus         AF128943.1<	Bison_bison	AF036273.1	JF443195.1		
Branta_canadensis         EU585629.1         DQ434443.1         AF173715.1           Branta_hutchinsii         AY072593.1         DQ434479.1         AF173715.1           Branta_leucopsis         EU585630.1         GU571283.1         Jack Stresson Stres	Branta_bernicla	HM063580.1	GU571279.1	HM063557.1	
Branta_hutchinsii         AY072593.1         DQ434479.1           Branta_leucopsis         EU585630.1         GU571283.1           Branta_ruficollis         EU585631.1           Castor_canadensis         KY321562.1         LC144616.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_caerulescens         X77190.1         DQ434537.1         AF173714.1         Chen_caerulescens         Chen_caerulescens         X77190.1         DQ434537.1           Chen_caerulescens         EU585615.1         AF173714.1         Chen_cossii         EU914156.1         DQ434538.1         U83734.1           Cygnus_buccinator         AY509690.1         AY666404.1         U59667.1         Cygnus_columbianus         EU585642.1         DQ433560.1           Cygnus_columbianus         EU585643.1         GU571360.1         AY164523.1         Dicrostonyx_inchadsonius         AJ238436.1         JF456441.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_torquatus         KT867537.1         Erethizon_dorsatum         KC463889.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1           Lagopus_legopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1           Lagopus_leucura         AF230171.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1           Legus_metricanus         AY156346.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1 <td>Branta canadensis</td> <td>EU585629.1</td> <td>DQ434443.1</td> <td>AF173715.1</td> <td></td>	Branta canadensis	EU585629.1	DQ434443.1	AF173715.1	
Branta_leucopsis         EU585630.1 EU585631.1         GU571283.1           Branta_ruficollis         EU585631.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Castor_canadensis         KY321562.1         LC144616.1         AY012111.1         JQ663965.1           Chen_caerulescens         X77190.1         DQ434537.1         AF173714.1           Chen_canagica         EU585615.1         AF173714.1           Chen_rossii         EU914156.1         DQ434538.1         U83734.1           Cygnus_buccinator         AY509690.1         AY666404.1         U59667.1           Cygnus_columbianus         EU585643.1         GU571360.1         AY164523.1           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         KJ556713.1         JF456491.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_nudsonius         AJ238435.1         JF443818.1         JF456396.1         AY012118.1           Dicrostonyx_torquatus         KT867537.1         Erethizon_dorsatum         KC463889.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1           Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1         Lagopus_muta         AY156346.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1           Lemmus_amurensis         FJ025979.1         Lemmus_amurensis         Lemus_483908.1         Lemus_4843908.1         Lepus_4843908.1 <td>Branta_hutchinsii</td> <td>AY072593.1</td> <td>DQ434479.1</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Branta_hutchinsii	AY072593.1	DQ434479.1		
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Branta leucopsis	EU585630.1	GU571283.1		
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Branta ruficollis	EU585631.1			
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Castor canadensis	KY321562.1	LC144616.1	AY012111.1	JQ663965.1
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Chen caerulescens	X77190.1	DQ434537.1		
Chen_rossii         EU914156.1         DQ434538.1         U83734.1           Cygnus_buccinator         AY509690.1         AY666404.1         U59667.1           Cygnus_columbianus         EU585642.1         DQ433560.1         AY164523.1           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         KJ556713.1         JF456464.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         KJ556713.1         JF456491.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_indusonius         AJ238435.1         JF456491.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_inchardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF443818.1         JF456396.1         AY012118.1           Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1         Lagopus_lagopus           Lagopus_leucura         AF230171.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1         Lemmus_trimucronatus           Lagopus_muta         AY156346.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1         Lemmus_trimucronatus           Lemmus_amurensis         FJ025979.1         Lemmus_trimucronatus         AF119276.1         JF456714.1         AF128943.1           Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1         Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1           Lepus_othus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1         Lepus_timidus<	Chen canagica	EU585615.1		AF173714.1	
Cygnus_buccinator         AY 509690.1         AY 666404.1         U59667.1           Cygnus_columbianus         EU585642.1         DQ433560.1         AY164523.1           Cygnus_cygnus         EU585643.1         GU571360.1         AY164523.1           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         KJ556713.1         JF456464.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         AJ238436.1         JF456491.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_ichardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF443818.1         Image: Article Artite Article Article Article Artite Artite Artite Artic	Chen rossii	EU914156.1	DQ434538.1	U83734.1	
Cygnus_columbianus         EU585642.1         DQ433560.1           Cygnus_cygnus         EU585643.1         GU571360.1         AY164523.1           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         KJ556713.1         JF456464.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_nudsonius         AJ238436.1         JF456491.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_nichardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF443818.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_ichardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF443818.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_ichardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF443818.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_icorquatus         KT867537.1         Erethizon_dorsatum         KC463889.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1           Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1         Agopus_lagopus           Lagopus_leucura         AF230171.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1         Lemmus_sisi           Lagopus_muta         AY156346.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1         Lemmus_sibiricus         AY19144.1           Lemmus_sibiricus         AY219144.1         U58923.1         AF128943.1         Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1           Lepus_americanus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1         JF428943.1 <td>Cygnus buccinator</td> <td>AY509690.1</td> <td>AY666404.1</td> <td>U59667.1</td> <td></td>	Cygnus buccinator	AY509690.1	AY666404.1	U59667.1	
Cygnus_cygnus         EU585643.1         GU571360.1         AY164523.1           Dicrostonyx_groenlandicus         KJ556713.1         JF456464.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_hudsonius         AJ238436.1         JF456491.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_hudsonius         AJ238435.1         JF456491.1         AF128937.1           Dicrostonyx_richardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF443818.1         AY012118.1           Dicrostonyx_torquatus         KT867537.1         Erethizon_dorsatum         KC463889.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1           Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1         Ag230171.1         DQ433716.1         AF222584.1           Lagopus_muta         AY156346.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1         Lemmus_amurensis         FJ025979.1           Lemmus_lemmus         JX483908.1         Lemmus_sibiricus         AY219144.1         AF128943.1           Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1         AF128943.1           Lepus_aterticus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1         Lepus_othus         HQ596479.1           Lepus_timidus         DQ882959.1         AB058610.1         HM232960.1           Marmota_caligata         KJ458055.1         JF313275.1         JF	Cygnus columbianus	EU585642.1	DQ433560.1		
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Cygnus cygnus	EU585643.1	GU571360.1	AY164523.1	
Dicrostonyx_hudsonius         AJ238436.1         JF456491.1           Dicrostonyx_richardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF443818.1           Dicrostonyx_torquatus         KT867537.1         Fethizon_dorsatum         KC463889.1           Erethizon_dorsatum         KC463889.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1           Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1           Lagopus_leucura         AF230171.1         DQ433716.1         AF222584.1           Lagopus_muta         AY156346.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1           Lemmus_amurensis         FJ025979.1         Etermus_sibiricus         AY219144.1           Lemmus_trimucronatus         AF19276.1         JF456714.1         AF128943.1           Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1         U58923.1           Lepus_arcticus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1         Lepus_othus         HQ596461.1           Lepus_timidus         DQ882959.1         AB058610.1         HM232960.1           Marmota_broweri         JN024621.1         JF313275.1         JF313275.1           Marmota camtschatica         AF100715.1         JF313276.1         JF313276.1	Dicrostonyx groenlandicus	KJ556713.1	JF456464.1		AF128937.1
Dicrostonyx_richardsoni         AJ238435.1         JF443818.1           Dicrostonyx_torquatus         KT867537.1         Ferethizon_dorsatum         KC463889.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1           Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1         AF222584.1           Lagopus_leucura         AF230171.1         DQ433716.1         AF222584.1         AF222584.1           Lagopus_muta         AY156346.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1         Lemmus_amurensis           Lemmus_amurensis         FJ025979.1         Lemmus_lemmus         JX483908.1           Lemmus_lemmus         JX483908.1         AF128943.1           Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1           Lepus_arcticus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1           Lepus_othus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1           Lepus_othus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1           Lepus_timidus         DQ882959.1         AB058610.1         HM232960.1           Marmota_broweri         JN024621.1         JF313275.1         JF313275.1           Marmota camtschatica         AF100715.1         JF313276.1         JF313276.1	Dicrostonyx hudsonius	AJ238436.1	JF456491.1		
Dicrostonyx_torquatus         KT867537.1           Erethizon_dorsatum         KC463889.1         JF456596.1         AY012118.1           Lagopus_lagopus         EF571187.1         GU571438.1         AF222583.1           Lagopus_leucura         AF230171.1         DQ433716.1         AF222584.1           Lagopus_muta         AY156346.1         DQ433738.1         KC785614.1           Lemmus_amurensis         FJ025979.1         Lemmus_iemmus         JX483908.1           Lemmus_lemmus         JX483908.1         AF128943.1           Lemmus_sibiricus         AY219144.1         AF128943.1           Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1           Lepus_arcticus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1           Lepus_othus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1           Lepus_timidus         DQ882959.1         AB058610.1         HM232960.1           Marmota_broweri         JN024621.1         JF313275.1         JF313275.1           Marmota camtschatica         AF100715.1         JF313276.1         JF313276.1	Dicrostonyx richardsoni	AJ238435.1	JF443818.1		
Erethizon_dorsatum       KC463889.1       JF456596.1       AY012118.1         Lagopus_lagopus       EF571187.1       GU571438.1       AF222583.1         Lagopus_leucura       AF230171.1       DQ433716.1       AF222584.1         Lagopus_muta       AY156346.1       DQ433738.1       KC785614.1         Lemmus_amurensis       FJ025979.1       Lemmus_iemmus       JX483908.1         Lemmus_lemmus       JX483908.1       Lemmus_sibiricus       AY219144.1         Lemmus_trimucronatus       AF119276.1       JF456714.1       AF128943.1         Lepus_americanus       KM261475.1       U58923.1       U58923.1         Lepus_othus       HQ596461.1       JF443819.1       Lepus_timidus       DQ882959.1         Marmota_broweri       JN024621.1       Marmota_caligata       KJ458055.1       JF313275.1         Marmota camtschatica       AF100715.1       JF313276.1       JF313276.1	Dicrostonyx torquatus	KT867537.1			
Lagopus       EF571187.1       GU571438.1       AF222583.1         Lagopus_leucura       AF230171.1       DQ433716.1       AF222584.1         Lagopus_muta       AY156346.1       DQ433738.1       KC785614.1         Lemmus_amurensis       FJ025979.1       KC785614.1         Lemmus_lemmus       JX483908.1       KC785614.1         Lemmus_ibinicus       AY219144.1       AF128943.1         Lemus_trimucronatus       AF119276.1       JF456714.1       AF128943.1         Lepus_americanus       KM261475.1       U58923.1       U58923.1         Lepus_othus       HQ596461.1       JF443819.1       Lepus_othus       HQ596461.1         Lepus_timidus       DQ882959.1       AB058610.1       HM232960.1         Marmota_broweri       JN024621.1       JF313275.1       JF313275.1         Marmota camtschatica       AF100715.1       JF313276.1       JF313276.1	Erethizon dorsatum	KC463889.1	JF456596.1	AY012118.1	
Lagopus_leucura       AF230171.1       DQ433716.1       AF222584.1         Lagopus_muta       AY156346.1       DQ433738.1       KC785614.1         Lemmus_amurensis       FJ025979.1       Lemmus_inurensis       FJ025979.1         Lemmus_lemmus       JX483908.1       Lemmus_isibiricus       AY219144.1         Lemmus_trimucronatus       AF119276.1       JF456714.1       AF128943.1         Lepus_americanus       KM261475.1       U58923.1         Lepus_arcticus       HQ596461.1       JF443819.1         Lepus_othus       HQ596479.1       AB058610.1       HM232960.1         Marmota_broweri       JN024621.1       JF313275.1       JF313275.1         Marmota camtschatica       AF100715.1       JF313276.1       JF313276.1	Lagopus lagopus	EF571187.1	GU571438.1	AF222583.1	
Lagopus_muta       AY156346.1       DQ433738.1       KC785614.1         Lemmus_amurensis       FJ025979.1       JE025979.1       KC785614.1         Lemmus_lemmus       JX483908.1       JX483908.1       JE025979.1         Lemmus_lemmus       JX483908.1       AF119276.1       JF456714.1       AF128943.1         Lemmus_trimucronatus       AF119276.1       JF456714.1       AF128943.1         Lepus_americanus       KM261475.1       U58923.1       U58923.1         Lepus_arcticus       HQ596461.1       JF443819.1       JF443819.1         Lepus_othus       HQ596479.1       AB058610.1       HM232960.1         Marmota_broweri       JN024621.1       JF313275.1       JF313275.1         Marmota camtschatica       AF100715.1       JF313276.1       JF313276.1	Lagopus_leucura	AF230171.1	DQ433716.1	AF222584.1	
Lemmus_amurensis         FJ025979.1           Lemmus_lemmus         JX483908.1           Lemmus_sibiricus         AY219144.1           Lemmus_trimucronatus         AF119276.1         JF456714.1           Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1           Lepus_arcticus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1           Lepus_othus         HQ596479.1         AB058610.1           Lepus_timidus         DQ882959.1         AB058610.1           Marmota_broweri         JN024621.1         JF313275.1           Marmota_caligata         KJ458055.1         JF313275.1           Marmota camtschatica         AF100715.1         JF313276.1	Lagopus muta	AY156346.1	DQ433738.1	KC785614.1	
LemmusJX483908.1Lemmus_sibiricusAY219144.1Lemmus_trimucronatusAF119276.1JF456714.1AF128943.1Lepus_americanusKM261475.1U58923.1U58923.1Lepus_arcticusHQ596461.1JF43819.1JF43819.1Lepus_othusHQ596479.1Lepus_timidusDQ882959.1Marmota_broweriJN024621.1Marmota_caligataKJ458055.1JF313275.1JF313275.1Marmota camtschaticaAF100715.1	Lemmus amurensis	FJ025979.1			
Lemmus_sibiricus         AY219144.1           Lemmus_trimucronatus         AF119276.1         JF456714.1         AF128943.1           Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1         Image: Comparison of the comparison of	Lemmus_lemmus	JX483908.1			
Lemmus_trimucronatus         AF119276.1         JF456714.1         AF128943.1           Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1         U58923.1           Lepus_arcticus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1         U58923.1           Lepus_othus         HQ596479.1         JF43819.1         HM232960.1           Marmota_broweri         JN024621.1         JF313275.1         JF313275.1           Marmota_caligata         KJ458055.1         JF313276.1	Lemmus sibiricus	AY219144.1			
Lepus_americanus         KM261475.1         U58923.1           Lepus_arcticus         HQ596461.1         JF443819.1           Lepus_othus         HQ596479.1         JE9000000000000000000000000000000000000	Lemmus trimucronatus	AF119276.1	JF456714.1		AF128943.1
Lepus_arcticusHQ596461.1JF443819.1Lepus_othusHQ596479.1Lepus_timidusDQ882959.1Marmota_broweriJN024621.1Marmota_caligataKJ458055.1JF313275.1Marmota camtschaticaAF100715.1	Lepus americanus	KM261475.1		U58923.1	
Lepus_othusHQ596479.1Lepus_timidusDQ882959.1Marmota_broweriJN024621.1Marmota_caligataKJ458055.1JF313275.1Marmota camtschaticaAF100715.1	Lepus arcticus	HQ596461.1	JF443819.1		
Lepus_timidusDQ882959.1AB058610.1HM232960.1Marmota_broweriJN024621.1JF313275.1Marmota_caligataKJ458055.1JF313275.1Marmota camtschaticaAF100715.1JF313276.1	Lepus othus	HQ596479.1			
Marmota_broweriJN024621.1Marmota_caligataKJ458055.1Marmota_cantschaticaAF100715.1JF313276.1	Lepus timidus	DQ882959.1		AB058610.1	HM232960.1
Marmota_caligataKJ458055.1JF313275.1Marmota_camtschaticaAF100715.1JF313276.1	Marmota_broweri	JN024621.1			
Marmota camtschatica AF100715.1 JF313276.1	Marmota_caligata	KJ458055.1			JF313275.1
_	Marmota_camtschatica	AF100715.1			JF313276.1

Marmota_monax	AF157953.1	JF456717.1	AY227529.1	JF313286.1
Microtus_abbreviatus	AF163890.1			
Microtus_chrotorrhinus	AF163893.1			
Microtus_gregalis	KP190244.1	KP190315.1		
Microtus_hyperboreus		HM137736.1		
Microtus_levis	FJ641161.1	EF608582.1	FJ619947.1	EF608583.1
Microtus_longicaudus	KF964344.1	JF456725.1		AF128936.1
Microtus_middendorffii	AF163898.1	HM137740.1		
Microtus_miurus	EF608581.1			
Microtus_oeconomus	KP190237.1	KP190307.1	AJ616853.1	
Microtus_pennsylvanicus	KF948531.1	KM189812.1	JN393216.1	U83806.1
Microtus_xanthognathus	AF163907.1			
Myodes_gapperi	DQ323950.1	JQ350489.1		U83808.1
Myodes_rufocanus	KR059903.1	JF693313.1		
Myodes_rutilus	JX477342.1	HM165297.1		
Ochotona_collaris	KP411020.1			EU549753.1
Ochotona_hyperborea	KR076823.1	DQ347441.1	AY012127.1	EU549756.1
Ochotona_turuchanensis	EF567056.1	DQ347468.1		
Ondatra_zibethicus	KT376465.1	JF456977.1	JN315625.1	U83809.1
Ovibos_moschatus	U17862.1	JF443354.1	AY670662.1	
Ovis_aries	KU253486.1	KT750039.1		
Ovis_dalli	AF034728.1	JF443359.1	AY670664.1	
Ovis_nivicola	AJ867265.1		Y09259.1	
Rangifer_tarandus	KJ138217.1	JF443494.1	AY184438.1	
Sicista_betulina	KP715861.1			
Spermophilus_parryii	AF157931.1	KM537933.1		
Synaptomys_borealis	AF119259.1	JF457125.1		AF128932.1



**Figure A1** Topology of the phylogenetic Bayesian analysis consisting of 71 taxa (including *Castor canadensis*). Four mitochondrial markers were included in the analysis; cytB, COI, 12S, ND4. In the diversity analysis performed in Biodiverse (Laffan et al., 2010) the tree was trimmed to match distribution data, resulting in the removal of Microtus Abbreviatus as the species range were too narrow to appear in the grid cells (consisting of 100x100 km). Therefore, 70 taxa from this topology were left for the diversity analysis. The topology is displayed using FigTree version 1.4.3<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/figtree/



**Figure A2** Relationship between the different explanatory variables investigated. All moderate and strong correlations with  $|\mathbf{r}| > 0.40$  are marked in red. Based on these correlations, 'Annual mean temperature' (= Bio1) and 'Elevation' were removed in the analysis due to strong correlations with other variables. All other variables were included in further analysis, despite revealing some correlations, since these were linked to specific hypotheses. Bio1 is 'Annual mean temperature', Bio5 is 'max temperature of the warmest month', Bio12 is 'Annual precipitation', cp\_ndvi\_la is 'plant productivity', population.density is 'human population density', kya\_since\_ice is 'Ice history'.

**Table A3** Top-ranking models ( $\Delta AIC < 3$ ) for possible explanatory variables for diversity patterns of arctic vertebrate herbivores: (a) Phylogenetic diversity (PD) for all herbivores. (b) Species richness (SR) for all herbivores. (c) Phylogenetic diversity relative to species richness (PD/SR) for all herbivores. The global model of explanatory variables used for all five analyses included these variables: 'Annual precipitation', 'Max temperature of warmest month', 'NDVI', 'Habitat heterogeneity', 'Distance to coast', 'Ice history' (=kya since ice), 'soil pH', 'Topographic heterogeneity' and 'Population density' (i.e. human population density). For each model the explanatory variables included are specified as well as the number of parameters (k). The  $\Delta AIC$  value shows the AIC value increase for a model relative to the top-ranking one of  $\Delta AIC = 0.0$ . AIC weights (AIC wt) shows, given the data, the probability of each model being the single best of all the models. In addition are the cumulative weight (Cum wt) and the LogLikelihood for each model also presented here. Coast – effect of 'Distance to coast'; HbH – effect of 'Habitat heterogeneity'; Bio12 – effect of 'Annual temperature'; Bio5 – effect of 'Max temperature of warmest month'; NDVI – effect of 'Plant productivity'; Ice – effect of 'Ice history'; Soil – effect of 'Soil pH'.

	k	ΔΑΙΟ	AIC wt	Cum wt	LogLikelihood
a) PD of all herbivores					
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens +TpH+Bio12+Bio5+Ice	7	0.00	0.403	0.403	1913.016
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice	8	1.17	0.225	0.628	1913.447
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+Ice+Soil	8	1.81	0.163	0.791	1913.127
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice+Soil	9	2.99	0.090	0.881	1913.554
b) SR of all herbivores					
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Soil	8	0.00	0.716	0.716	2402.918
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice+Soil	9	1.89	0.278	0.994	2402.989
(c) PD/SR of all herbivores					
~Coast+HbH +TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice+Soil	8	0.00	0.405	0.405	2302.366
~Coast+HbH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice+Soil	7	0.45	0.323	0.728	2301.126
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice+Soil	9	1.97	0.151	0.879	2302.398
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens +Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice+Soil	8	2.42	0.121	1.00	2301.155



**Figure A3** Correlations between phylogenetic diversity between different groups investigated: Allspecies\_PD\_P is phylogenetic diversity of all herbivores, including the semi-domesticated species *Ovis aries* and *Rangifer tarandus*. Birds\_PD\_P is phylogenetic diversity including all herbivorious birds investigated. Mammals\_PD\_P is phylogenetic diversity including all herbivorious mammals investigated. Allspecies wild PD\_P is all herbivores excluding the semi-domesticated species.

### Appendix 2

Additional results revealing relative importance scores of variables when investigating patterns of phylogenetic diversity in birds (see Figure 4a) and mammals (see Figure 4b) separately. Same procedure used as in the main analyses (see section of Materials and Methods).

**Table A4** Top-ranking models ( $\Delta AIC < 3$ ) for possible explanatory variables for diversity patterns of Arctic vertebrate herbivores: (i) Phylogenetic diversity (PD) for all herbivores. (ii) Phylogenetic diversity (PD) for all birds. (iii) Phylogenetic diversity (PD) for all mammals. The global model of explanatory variables used for all three analyses included these variables: 'Annual precipitation', 'Max temperature of warmest month', 'NDVI', 'Habitat heterogeneity', 'Distance to coast', 'Ice history' (=kya since ice), 'soil pH', 'Topographic heterogeneity' and 'Population density' (i.e. human population density). For each model the explanatory variables included are specified as well as the number of parameters (k). The  $\Delta AIC$  value shows the AIC value increase for a model relative to the top-ranking one of  $\Delta AIC = 0.0$ . AIC weights (AIC wt) shows, given the data, the probability of each model being the single best of all the models. In addition are the cumulative weight (Cum wt) and the LogLikelihood for each model also presented here. Coast – effect of 'Distance to coast'; HbH – effect of 'Habitat heterogeneity'; Bio12 – effect of 'Annual temperature'; Bio5 – effect of 'Max temperature of warmest month'; NDVI – effect of 'plant productivity'; Ice – effect of 'Ice history'; Soil – effect of 'Soil pH'.

	k	ΔΑΙC	AIC wt	Cum wt	LogLikelihood
i) PD of all herbivores					
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens +TpH+Bio12+Bio5+Ice	7	0.00	0.403	0.403	1913.016
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice	8	1.17	0.225	0.628	1913.447
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+Ice+Soil	8	1.81	0.163	0.791	1913.127
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice+Soil	9	2.99	0.090	0.881	1913.554
ii) PD of herbivorous birds					
~Coast+HbH+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice+Soil	8	0.00	0.447	0.447	2254.670
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice+Soil	9	0.52	0.344	0.791	2255.425
iii) PD of herbivorous mammals					
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+Ice	7	0.00	0.508	0.508	1665.260
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+NDVI+Ice	8	1.89	0.197	0.705	1665.329
~Coast+HbH+Pop.dens+TpH+Bio12+Bio5+Ice+Soil	8	1.92	0.194	0.899	1665.315

#### Relative variable importance



**Figure A4** Variable importance scores for phylogenetic diversity of all herbivores (PD; green), herbivores mammals (mammals\_PD; red) and herbivores birds (birds\_PD; yellow). For each variable, the AIC weight for all models in which it appears is summed to represent the relative importance of the variable. The cumulative weight can be used to set order of importance of each variable, thus it can be understood as the probability of the variable being present in the best-fitted model. Cp\_ndvi\_la is 'Plant productivity', kya\_since\_ice is 'Ice history', bio5 is the 'max temperature of the warmest month', and bio12 is the 'annual precipitation'.